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Operations for the Year
Operating revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating income* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from continuing operations*  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from continuing operations per share (diluted)*  . . . . . . . .

Information at Year End
Total assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Current portion of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Long-term debt (including capital leases and excluding current portion)  . . . .
Stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Stockholders’ equity per common share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Number of common shares outstanding (in thousands)  . . . . . . . . .

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Statements contained in this report that are not based on historical facts are
“forward-looking statements.” Terms such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “esti-
mate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “intend,” “plan,” “predict,” “prospects,” “sched-
uled,” “should,” “would,” and similar expressions and the negatives of such
terms are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such statements
are by their nature subject to uncertainties and risk, including, but not lim-
ited to, union relations; availability and cost of capital; shifts in market
demand; weather conditions; the performance and needs of industries
served by Arkansas Best’s subsidiaries; actual future costs of operating
expenses such as fuel and related taxes; self-insurance claims; union 
and nonunion employee wages and benefits; actual costs of continuing
investments in technology; the timing and amount of capital expenditures;
competitive initiatives and pricing pressures; general economic conditions;
and other financial, operational and legal risks and uncertainties detailed
from time to time in the Company’s Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) public filings.

$ 1,836,878
84,844
56,825

2.26

$ 983,349
171

1,400
632,386

25.43
24,871

$ 1,881,500
124,679
80,501

3.16

$ 938,716
249

1,184
579,395

23.31
24,855

2007 2006
($ thousands, except share and per share data)

* 2006 includes pension settlement expense of $10.2 million (pre-tax) and $6.2 million or $0.24 per share (after-tax).
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In 2007, Arkansas Best Corporation experi-
enced another successful year that included a
continued focus on customer needs and initial
success in an important new growth initiative.
Despite a challenging economic environment
that resulted in reduced business levels
throughout the year, our company continued to
improve its strong financial position. Arkansas
Best ended the year with an increase in share-
holders’ equity to $632 million, virtually no debt
and year-end cash and short-term investments
of $173 million. ABF Freight System, Inc., our
largest subsidiary, managed through the com-
petitive environment by controlling costs and
maintaining its traditional focus on account
profitability.

Arkansas Best’s 2007 revenues were $1.8 
billion compared to 2006 revenues of $1.9 
billion. Income from continuing operations in
2007 was $57 million, or $2.26 per diluted
common share, compared to $81 million, or
$3.16 per diluted common share in 2006.

Arkansas Best’s 2007 After-Tax Return on
Capital Employed was 9.5%. This year’s figure
is consistent with the median 10% level from a
multi-year study of all S&P 500 companies
across the business cycle. Our employees are
to be congratulated when you consider that this
performance was posted in an economic down
cycle while we were rolling out our new region-
al initiative, RPM. We consider Return on Capital
Employed throughout our corporation whenever
investment decisions are made on equipment,
real estate, or other growth opportunities. Our
employees understand this measure and what it
means for our long-term success. We believe
our internal focus on this important financial
parameter maximizes the profitability of our
company and offers a valuable return on the
investment made by our shareholders.

The strong financial condition of Arkansas
Best’s balance sheet allows us to return money
to our shareholders and puts our company in a
position to consider various opportunities for
the future. In 2007, our company paid a quar-
terly cash dividend of $0.15 per share. We

believe our current dividend yield is the second
highest in the transportation industry. In the
early part of 2007, Arkansas Best purchased
125,000 shares of company stock totaling $5
million. Since January 2003, we have pur-
chased 1.6 million shares of company stock for
a total of $57 million. As of the end of 2007,
approximately $18 million remains available
under our authorized buyback program for
future common stock purchases. The imple-
mentation of our regional initiative throughout
the eastern two-thirds of the Untied States also
required some investment. With the ratification
of ABF’s new labor contract, we are now in a
position to review strategic opportunities for our
company’s future. Our focus will be on choices
that increase shareholder value.

ABF’s total revenue in 2007 was $1.77 billion
compared to 2006 total revenue of $1.83 
billion. ABF’s 2007 operating income was $85
million versus $125 million in 2006, and ABF’s
2007 full year operating ratio was 95.2% com-
pared to 93.2% during 2006. The effects of ton-
nage declines throughout the year impacted
ABF’s profitability. In addition, the implementa-
tion of our RPM regional initiative increased
costs and added one percentage point to ABF’s
full year 2007 operating ratio. During a chal-
lenging period, ABF maintained its emphasis on
providing value to its customers while reducing
labor and equipment costs to more closely align
them with existing business levels. 

Total tonnage per day during 2007 decreased
5.1% compared to the previous year. This
reflects a weakness in the economy that ABF
began to experience during the fourth quarter of
2006. We reported year-over-year tonnage
declines during the first three quarters of 2007.
However, our trends improved in each month of
the fourth quarter, and we ended the year with a
slight increase in December’s year-over-year
tonnage. This is a positive development, but we
remain cautious about what it means for 2008.   

The 2007 LTL pricing environment was very
competitive as carriers sought to protect exist-
ing business levels and market share. Our 

ROBERT A. DAVIDSON

LETTER FROM THE PRESIDENT
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LETTER FROM THE PRESIDENT

ability to obtain account price increases is more
difficult than it was at this time last year. Total
billed revenue per hundredweight in 2007
increased nearly 2% over 2006’s full year figure.
During the year, ABF’s revenue per hundred-
weight was affected by significant changes in
freight mix and shipment profile. Progress in
ABF’s regional freight initiative caused length of
haul, and in turn revenue per hundredweight, to
decrease. Beginning in the second half of the
year, ABF supplemented tonnage in its LTL busi-
ness with spot-priced truckload shipments that
helped improve utilization of system capacity
and increased ABF’s total average shipment size.
These shipments reduced ABF’s overall revenue
per hundredweight. Though changes in freight
mix and profile affected our yield statistics, these
shipments were added while considering our tra-
ditional profitability requirements. New ship-
ments with different profile characteristics make
it difficult to identify true pricing changes. We
believe our customer pricing is compensatory.

At the beginning of 2007, ABF began fully mar-
keting RPM which provides improved next-day
and second-day services throughout the eastern
two-thirds of the United States. As the year
began, this portion of the RPM network was fully
operational but in many cases there were very
few shipments on the trailers moving in these
regional lanes. Our traditional market approach
of selling on value rather than price meant that
we had to be patient in adding these shipments
as customers became comfortable with the idea
of having ABF, traditionally a long-haul carrier,
provide regional service. Gradually, we began to
experience success as customers understood
that they would receive consistent next-day and
second-day deliveries at a competitive price
while enjoying the high level of customized,
claim-free service for which ABF has always
been known.

Increasingly during the year, we started seeing
separation and improvement in the revenue and
tonnage trends of shipments in these shorter
distance lanes when compared to our remaining
business. We are gaining market traction with
RPM, and we have reached a point where the

fixed cost investment we’ve made is in place and
has stabilized. We are now concentrating on
adding new shipments in these lanes each day. 

Our success so far confirms our organic, low
risk approach to expanding in this market with-
out the numerous integration challenges that are
incurred with an acquisition. Because of the sig-
nificant opportunity we see for gaining addition-
al business and expanding the services that ABF
offers in the marketplace, we believe the invest-
ment we have made in RPM was a good one. I’m
excited that we no longer have to limit ABF’s
sales force to only focusing on long distance
service. Enhanced regional capabilities and
improved service throughout our system are
excellent investments that, over time, will yield
solid results. 

During 2008, we expect to complete our RPM
network through expansion into the remaining
western one-third of the United States. Because
of the distances between population centers in
this portion of the country, executing regional
service in the West requires a different operating
model than that of our current, regional operation
in the East. There will be a greater emphasis on
equipment and labor and less on real estate. The
impact of the western region roll-out on ABF’s
total costs is expected to be significantly less
than what we experienced in the East. 

We talk a lot about the value that ABF offers in
the LTL marketplace and how that is a distin-
guishing factor in securing profitable business
and developing customer loyalty. However,
sometimes it is difficult to quantify what we
mean by “value”. Value means delivering a ship-
ment that is intact, complete and on time. During
2007, ABF handled more than 99% of its ship-
ments claims-free and had its lowest cargo
claim ratio in over twenty-five years. Damage-
free handling of freight cargo is important to our
customers and it makes a difference to them. We
frequently add new business because of the
superior cargo care we provide. Often, after
leaving us for what appeared to be a lower price,
customers return when they realize that dam-
aged freight by the other carrier adversely affect-

ed their own customer service and caused over-
all costs to increase.

Value means having experienced professionals
whose knowledge of their jobs and expertise in
responding to customer needs benefits our cus-
tomers. The average tenure of ABF’s employees,
throughout the company, is significant. We
recruit the best employees and they generally
stay with us a long time. This is a key factor in
our ability to attract and retain new business.

Value means providing our freight handling
duties in a safe and secure environment. Two
ABF drivers were recognized as national champi-
ons at the 2007 National Truck Driving
Championships, and ABF won the 2007
Excellence in Security Award from the American
Trucking Associations. During the year, ABF’s
combined costs associated with workers’ com-
pensation and third-party casualty claims were
below the most recent five-year and ten-year
averages.

Value means having a well-trained sales force
that is equipped to identify ways to meet the indi-
vidual shipping needs of each customer we
serve, through superior technology and person-
alized attention. For the sixth consecutive year,
ABF was ranked, by Selling Power magazine,
among the top ten service companies to sell for.
Once again we were the highest-ranking trans-
portation company on this list. 

Value means paying attention to the special
requirements of individual customers and offer-
ing personalized service that meets their unique
needs. Time and time again, ABF successfully
merges people and information through the use
of low cost technology in order to improve cus-
tomer supply chain visibility and lower overall
logistics costs. An ABF customer utilizing
abf.com has access to the same shipment data
that is available to an ABF employee. Because
ABF’s systems are developed internally by 
people who know and understand the trans-
portation industry, they can be customized to
prompt our drivers and dock handlers, utilizing
wireless microbrowser technology, with specific

Value means paying attention to the special requirements
of individual customers and offering personalized service
that meets their unique needs.“ ”
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03 04 05 06 07

$85
$86

$167

$124 $125

03 04 05 06 07

$1,837

$1,441

$1,770

$1,635

$1,882

03 04 05 06 07

9.5%
11.0%

18.4%

17.3%

15.4%

03 04 05 06 07

9.4%9.6%

18.2%
17.3%

15.3%

03 04 05 06 07

$2.26

$1.76

$3.99

$2.92
$3.16

(1) 2006 includes pension settlement expense of $10.2 million (pre-tax) and $6.2 million or $0.24 per share (after-tax).
2005 includes a gain from the sale of properties to G.I. Trucking Company of $15.4 million (pre-tax) and $9.8 million or $0.38 per share (after-tax).
2003 includes a gain from the sale of the Company’s 19.0% interest in Wingfoot Commercial Tire Systems, LLC of $12.1 million (pre-tax) and $8.4 million or $0.33 per share (after tax).

(2) Defined as (income from continuing operations excluding items in Note (1) + after-tax interest)/(average total debt + average equity).

(3) Defined as (income from continuing operations excluding items in Note (1))/(average equity).

AFTER-TAX RETURN ON CAPITAL
EMPLOYED (ROCE) (2) 

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
PER DILUTED COMMON SHARE (1)  

AFTER-TAX RETURN ON STOCKHOLDERS’
EQUITY (3) 

OPERATING INCOME (1) In MillionsOPERATING REVENUE In Millions

customer requirements at the exact time the
information is needed. These are just a few
examples of how ABF adds “value” and has
become an integral part of the distribution net-
work of many of our customers. 

In early February 2008, ABF announced the rati-
fication of a new labor contract with the
International Brotherhood of Teamsters (IBT).
This five-year contract provides ABF with labor
stability through March 2013. Though it had
been our goal to withdraw from the multiemploy-
er pension plans and provide future retirement
benefits to our union employees through a single
employer solution, we were unable to reach an
agreement on this issue with the Teamsters lead-
ership. As a result, ABF will continue to partici-

pate in, and contribute to, all of its current multi-
employer pension plans. Going forward, ABF will
continue to evaluate, with the IBT, these plans
and other solutions for providing secure benefits
to our employees. We are pleased with the pro-
visions of this contract that allow us to be more
flexible in effectively utilizing our employees
throughout the ABF network. This will enable us
to expand the level of service we provide to our
customers while lowering operating costs and
improving labor efficiencies.   

Despite a demanding freight environment in
2007, ABF took important steps that prepare it
for the future. The development of the regional
initiative fully equips ABF to compete in this
growing market and to offer a broader array of

value-added services to our customers. The pro-
visions for additional labor flexibility contained in
our new five-year labor agreement ensure that
ABF will be able to more effectively compete for
business in an ever-changing marketplace.
Arkansas Best’s strong financial position pro-
vides the foundation for the future so that we can
continue generating returns that increase share-
holder value. We will continue to manage
Arkansas Best Corporation for the long-term
benefit of our shareholders and our employees.  

Robert A. Davidson

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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ABF Freight System, Inc., one of Nor th
America’s largest and most experienced motor
carriers, handles shipments of general com-
modities in less-than-truckload (LTL) quantities.
In continuous service since 1923, ABF® is the
largest subsidiary of Arkansas Best Corpor-
ation. ABF’s full year 2007 revenue was $1.77
billion, representing 96.4 percent of the cor-
poration’s 2007 revenues. At the end of 2007,
ABF had 11,430 active employees.  

ABF is consistently recognized for best-in-class
performance in productivity, safety and secu-
rity, loss and damage prevention, yield disci-
pline, and electronic and market innovation. The
Company is the only five-time winner of the
American Trucking Associations President’s
Trophy for Safety and the only four-time winner
of the Excellence in Security Award.
InformationWeek, CIO, InfoWorld, and BtoB
magazines also have cited ABF as a leader in
strategic applications of information technology,
including its industry-leading website and its
cost-effective application of real-time data col-
lection hardware.  

The ABF transportation system stretches
throughout North America, with direct service
to all 50 states, Canada and Puerto Rico.
Through relationships with trucking companies
in Mexico, ABF provides motor carrier services
to customers in that country as well. ABF pro-
vides guaranteed service for expedited and
time-definite shipments via its TimeKeeper®

service. Regional shipments are handled via the
carrier’s RPM® Network, providing reliable next-
day and second-day service.   

The ABF product por tfolio also includes:
FreightValue®, a brokerage service for ship-
ments requiring special equipment or handling;
Supply Chain Services, a network for ware-
housing, order fulfillment, packaging/light
assembly, labeling, product inspection and test-
ing; TurnKey®, a customized delivery, unpacking
and set-up service; Reverse Logistics, a service
for planning, implementing and controlling the
flow of materials and related information back
through the supply chain; ABF U-Pack Moving®,
a self-load household goods moving service;
Trade Show, a special service for transporting
exhibit materials; ReloCube®, a lockable heavy-
duty steel and aluminum storage and transport
container featuring ground-level placement and
loading access; and Flatbed Delivery, a single-
source delivery option for locations requiring
open access. 

Globally, ABF serves 250 ports in more than
130 countries. ABF is certified as an Automated
Commercial Environment (ACE) carrier by the
U.S. Department of Homeland Security, as well
as a Customs-Trade Par tnership Against
Terrorism (C-TPAT) and Free and Secure Trade
(FAST) carrier to and from Canada. In 2005,
ABF became the first certified ACE program
participant among major LTL motor carriers.
ABF also was the first major carrier to success-
fully complete U.S.-Canadian border crossings
using an electronic manifest program developed
by U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP).

COMPANY HIGHLIGHTS

FleetNet is a third-party vehicle maintenance
company that coordinates scheduled and non-
scheduled service to truck fleets, owner opera-
tors, original equipment truck manufacturers
and after-market equipment providers. FleetNet
receives and initiates nationwide service calls

regarding on-the-road breakdowns and sched-
uled service at its call center which is available
24 hours a day, 365 days a year. FleetNet’s call
coordinators have access to a network of over
60,000 truck repair vendors to assist in provid-
ing vehicle repair and emergency road service

throughout the continental United States and
Canada. Through its FleetNet Select Towing and
Recovery Program, FleetNet’s customers have
nationwide access to preferential towing and
recovery providers at competitive prices.

ABF’s website:  abf.com  Contact ABF – abf@abf.com

ABF Freight System, Inc. General Offices:  3801 Old Greenwood Road  Fort Smith, AR 72903
P.O. Box 10048  Fort Smith, AR 72917-0048  Phone: 479-785-8700

FleetNet’s website:  fleetnetamerica.com  Contact FleetNet – sales@fleetnetamerica.com
Fleetnet America, Inc. General Offices:  300 Commerce Drive  P.O. Box 970  Cherryville, NC 28021  Phone: 800-438-8961

HAND-HELD, WIRELESS
DEVICES ENABLE ABF 
DRIVERS AND DOCKWORKERS
TO ACCESS SPECIFIC 
CUSTOMER REQUIREMENTS
AT THE EXACT TIME THE
INFORMATION IS NEEDED.

ABF FREIGHT SYSTEM, INC.

FLEETNET AMERICA, INC.
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UTILIZING ABF.COM, CUSTOMERS HAVE
ACCESS TO THE SAME SHIPMENT DATA 
THAT IS AVAILABLE TO AN ABF EMPLOYEE.
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MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

High Low
Cash

Dividend

2007
First quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Second quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Third quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Fourth quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

2006
First quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Second quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Third quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Fourth quarter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 42.41
41.61
41.51
34.79

$ 45.42
50.21
50.57
49.45

$ 35.15
35.14
32.34
21.78

$ 39.12
39.01
41.74
35.69

$ 0.15
0.15
0.15
0.15

$ 0.15
0.15
0.15
0.15

Period

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

Average
Price Paid
Per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly

Announced Program

Maximum Dollar Value 
of Shares That May 
Yet Be Purchased 

Under the Program

October 2007
November 2007
December 2007
Total Fourth Quarter 2007

–
–
–
–

$ –
–
–

$ –

1,618,150
1,618,150
1,618,150

$ 18,184,667
$ 18,184,667
$ 18,184,667

At February 20, 2008, there were 25,165,162
shares of the Company’s Common Stock 
outstanding, which were held by 443 stock-
holders of record.

The Company expects to continue to pay
quarterly dividends in the foreseeable future,
although there can be no assurances in this
regard since future dividends will be at the
discretion of the Board of Directors and will

depend upon the Company’s future earnings,
capital requirements, financial condition and
other factors. On January 24, 2008, the Board
of Directors of the Company declared a divi-
dend of $0.15 per share to stockholders of
record on February 7, 2008.

The Company has a program to repurchase
its Common Stock in the open market or 
in privately negotiated transactions. The

Company’s Board of Directors authorized
stock repurchases of up to $25.0 million in
2003 and an additional $50.0 million in 2005.
The repurchases may be made either from the
Company’s cash reserves or from other avail-
able sources. The program has no expiration
date but may be terminated at any time at the
Board’s discretion. 

The Common Stock of Arkansas Best Corporation (the “Company”) trades on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC under the symbol “ABFS.” The 
following table sets forth the high and low recorded last sale prices of the Common Stock during the periods indicated as reported by Nasdaq and
the cash dividends declared:

The following table summarizes the Company’s repurchase activity for the three months ended December 31, 2007:

The total shares repurchased by the Company, since the inception of the program, have been made at an average price of $35.11 per share. 



STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
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The following graph shows a comparison of five-year cumulative total return for the Company, the Russell 2000 Market Index and a peer group index
selected by the Company:

250

200

150

100

50

0

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006      2007

PEER GROUP INDEX RUSSELL 2000 INDEX ARKANSAS BEST CORP.

The above comparisons assume $100 was
invested on December 31, 2002 in the
Company’s Common Stock and each of the
foregoing indices and assume reinvestment of
dividends. All calculations have been prepared
by Hemscott, Inc. The stockholder return
shown on the graph above is not necessarily
indicative of future performance.

The Company considers itself a transportation
holding company with an emphasis on long-
haul and regional, less-than-truckload (“LTL”)
transportation of general commodities.
Accordingly, the Company believes it is
important that its performance be compared
to that of other transportation companies with
similar operations. Therefore, companies in

the current peer group include Con-way, Inc.
and the LTL freight carriers contained in 
the Nasdaq Transportation Index (Old
Dominion Freight Line, Inc.; Saia, Inc. and
YRC Worldwide Inc.). 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Year Ended December 31

2007(1) 2006(2, 3, 11) 2005(11) 2004(11) 2003(11)

($ thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Income Data:
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating income (4, 5, 6)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Short-term investment income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Fair value changes and payments on swap (7)  . . .
Interest expense and other related

financing costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other income – net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from continuing operations

before income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Provision for income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations, net of tax (8, 9)  . . . . . . . .
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from continuing operations 

per common share, diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net income per common share, diluted . . . . . . . .
Cash dividends paid per common share  . . . . . . .

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Current portion of long-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . .
Long-term debt (including capital leases

and excluding current portion)  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Other Data:
Gross capital expenditures, including 

capital leases  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net capital expenditures, including 

capital leases (10)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Depreciation and amortization of

property, plant and equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 1,836,878
84,844
5,671

–

1,189
1,465

90,791
33,966
56,825

–
56,825

2.26
2.26
0.60

983,349
171

1,400

98,169

86,102

77,318

$ 1,881,500
124,679

4,996
–

1,119
2,963

131,519
51,018
80,501

3,593
84,094

3.16
3.30
0.60

938,716
249

1,184

147,463

135,550

67,727

$ 1,769,576
166,524

2,382
–

2,157
1,702

168,451
65,698

102,753
1,873

104,626

3.99
4.06
0.54

921,060
317

1,433

93,438

64,309

61,851

$ 1,635,420
123,941

440
509

1,359
1,489

125,020
50,073
74,947

582
75,529

2.92
2.94
0.48

811,151
388

1,430

79,533

63,623

54,760

$ 1,441,043
86,303

93
(10,257)

4,911
1,554

72,782
27,994
44,788

1,322
46,110

1.76
1.81
0.32

703,678
353

1,826

68,202

60,373

51,925

(1) On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”). The adoption of FIN 48 did not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.

(2) Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 123(R), 
Share-Based Payment (“FAS 123(R)”), using the modified-prospective transition method (see Notes B and C to the Company’s consolidated financial statements).

(3) On December 31, 2006, the Company adopted FASB Statement No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an 
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R) (“FAS 158”). See Note J to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for further discussion of
the effect of adopting FAS 158.

(4) 2006 operating income includes pre-tax pension settlement expense of $10.2 million as a result of the Company settling supplemental pension benefit obligations of
$26.5 million (see Note J to the Company’s consolidated financial statements).

(5) 2005 operating income includes a pre-tax gain of $15.4 million from the sale of properties to G.I. Trucking Company (see Note Q to the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements).

(6) 2003 operating income includes a pre-tax gain of $12.1 million from the sale of the Company’s 19% ownership interest in Wingfoot Commercial Tire Systems, LLC.
(7) Fair value changes and payments on the interest rate swap (see Note E to the Company’s consolidated financial statements). The swap matured on April 1, 2005.
(8) 2006 income from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes the gain on the sale of Clipper Exxpress Company (“Clipper”) on June 15, 2006 (see Note R to the

Company’s consolidated financial statements).
(9) 2003 income from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes the gain of $2.5 million on the sale of Clipper’s less-than-truckload vendor and customer lists on

December 31, 2003.
(10) Capital expenditures, net of proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment.
(11) Periods prior to 2007 have been reclassified to report revenue and purchased transportation expense on a gross basis for certain shipments involving third-party 

interline carriers and certain brokerage transactions where ABF utilizes a third-party carrier for pickup or delivery of freight but remains the primary obligor to provide 
services to the customer.



Arkansas Best Corporation (the
“Company”) is a holding company engaged,
through its subsidiaries, primarily in motor
carrier transportation operations. The prin-
cipal subsidiary of the Company is ABF
Freight System, Inc. (“ABF”).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the amounts reported in 
the financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates under different assumptions or con-
ditions. 

The Company’s accounting policies (see Note
B to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements) that are “critical,” or the most
important, to understand the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations
and that require management of the Company
to make the most difficult judgments are
described as follows.  

Revenue Recognition: Management of the
Company utilizes a bill-by-bill analysis to
establish estimates of revenue in transit for
recognition in the appropriate reporting period
under the Company’s accounting policy for
revenue recognition. The Company uses a
method prescribed by Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 91-9 Revenue and Expense
Recognition for Freight Services in Process
(“EITF 91-9”), where revenue is recognized

based on relative transit times in each report-
ing period with expenses being recognized as
incurred. Because the bill-by-bill methodology
utilizes the approximate location of the ship-
ment in the delivery process to determine the
revenue to recognize, management of the
Company believes it to be a reliable method.
The Company reports revenue and purchased
transportation expense on a gross basis for
certain shipments where ABF utilizes a third-
party carrier for pickup or delivery of freight
but remains the primary obligor.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: The
Company estimates its allowance for doubtful
accounts based on the Company’s historical
write-offs, as well as trends and factors sur-
rounding the credit risk of specific customers.
In order to gather information regarding these
trends and factors, the Company performs
ongoing credit evaluations of its customers.
The Company’s allowance for revenue adjust-
ments is an estimate based on the Company’s
historical revenue adjustments. Actual write-
offs or adjustments could differ from the
allowance estimates due to a number of fac-
tors. These factors include unanticipated
changes in the overall economic environment
or factors and risks surrounding a particular
customer. The Company continually updates
the history it uses to make these estimates so
as to reflect the most recent trends, factors
and other information available. Actual write-
offs and adjustments are charged against the
allowances for doubtful accounts and revenue
adjustments. Management believes this
methodology to be reliable in estimating the
allowances for doubtful accounts and revenue
adjustments.

Revenue Equipment: The Company utilizes
tractors and trailers primarily in its motor car-
rier transportation operations. Tractors and
trailers are commonly referred to as “revenue
equipment” in the transportation business.
Under its accounting policy for property, plant
and equipment, management establishes
appropriate depreciable lives and salvage val-
ues for the Company’s revenue equipment
based on their estimated useful lives and esti-
mated fair values to be received when the
equipment is sold or traded. Management
continually monitors salvage values and
depreciable lives in order to make timely,
appropriate adjustments to them. The
Company’s gains and losses on revenue
equipment have been historically immaterial,
which reflects the accuracy of the estimates
used. Management has a policy of purchasing
its revenue equipment rather than utilizing off-
balance-sheet financing.

Nonunion Pension Expense: The Company
has a noncontributory defined benefit pension
plan covering substantially all noncontractual
employees hired before January 1, 2006.
Benefits are generally based on years of serv-
ice and employee compensation. The
Company’s pension expense and related
asset and liability balances are estimated
based upon a number of assumptions and
using the services of a third-party actuary.
The assumptions with the greatest impact on
the Company’s expense are the expected
return on plan assets, the discount rate used
to discount the plan’s obligations and the
assumed compensation cost increase.
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Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Discount rate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Expected return on plan assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Rate of compensation increase  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

6.1%
7.6%
3.3%

5.8%
7.9%
4.0%

Nonunion Pension Assumptions: The following table provides the key assumptions the Company used for 2007 compared to those it anticipates
using for 2008 nonunion pension expense:



The assumptions used directly impact the
pension expense for a particular year. If actual
results vary from the assumption, an actuarial
gain or loss is created and amortized into
pension expense over the average remaining
service period of the plan participants begin-
ning in the following year. The Company’s dis-
count rate is determined by matching
projected cash distributions with the appropri-
ate corporate bond yields in a yield curve
analysis. A quarter percentage point decrease
in the pension plan discount rate would
increase annual pension expense by $0.3 mil-
lion on a pre-tax basis. The Company estab-
lishes the expected rate of return on its
pension plan assets by considering the histor-
ical returns for the plan’s current investment
mix and its investment advisor’s range of
expected returns for the plan’s current invest-
ment mix. A decrease in expected returns on
plan assets increases the Company’s pension
expense. A quarter percentage point decrease
in the pension plan expected rate of return
would increase annual pension expense by
approximately $0.5 million on a pre-tax basis.
The Company establishes the assumed rate of
compensation considering historical changes
in compensation combined with an estimate
of compensation rates for the next two years.
A quar ter percentage point decrease in 
the rate of compensation increase would
decrease annual pension expense by approxi-
mately $0.5 million on a pre-tax basis.

At December 31, 2007, the Company’s
nonunion pension plan had $27.4 million in
unamortized actuarial losses, for which the
amortization period is approximately ten
years. The Company amortizes actuarial loss-
es over the average remaining active service
period of the plan participants and does not
use a corridor approach. The Company’s
2008 pension expense will include amortiza-
tion of actuarial losses of approximately $2.9
million. The comparable amounts for 2007
and 2006 were $4.2 million and $5.5 million,
respectively. The Company’s 2008 total pen-
sion expense will be available before its first
quarter 2008 Form 10-Q filing and is expect-
ed to be lower than the 2007 pension expense
based upon currently available information.

On December 31, 2006, the Company adopt-
ed FASB Statement No. 158, Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of
FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and
132(R) (“FAS 158”). FAS 158 requires plan
sponsors of defined benefit pension and other
postretirement benefit plans to recognize the
funded status of their postretirement benefit
plans in the balance sheet and provide addi-
tional disclosures. See Note J to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements
for further discussion of the effect of adopting
FAS 158.

Share-Based Compensation: Effective
January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the
fair value recognition provisions of FASB
Statement No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment
(“FAS 123(R)”), using the modified-prospec-
tive transition method, which requires that the
fair value of unvested stock options be recog-
nized in the income statement, over the
remaining vesting period. See Notes B and C
to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for disclosures related to share-
based compensation. The grant date fair value
of stock options, which have been awarded
prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), was esti-
mated based on a Black-Scholes-Merton
option pricing model that utilizes several
assumptions, including expected volatility,
weighted-average life and a risk-free interest
rate. Expected volatilities were estimated
using the historical volatility of the Company’s
stock, based upon the expected term of the
option. The Company was not aware of infor-
mation in determining the grant date fair value
that would have indicated that future volatility
would be expected to be significantly different
than historical volatility. The expected term of
the option was derived from historical data
and represents the period of time that options
are estimated to be outstanding. The risk-free
interest rate for periods within the estimated
life of the option was based on the U.S.
Treasury Strip rate in effect at the time of the
grant. The Company has not granted stock
options since January 2004. Compensation
expense will be impacted by the cost of stock
options, which is based on estimated grant
date fair values and assumed forfeitures, until
outstanding awards are fully vested in
January 2009.

Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the
Company accounted for share-based com-
pensation under the “intrinsic value method”
and the recognition and measurement princi-
ples of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees, and related interpretations. Under
this method, no share-based compensation
expense associated with the Company’s
stock options was recognized in periods prior
to 2006 as no options were granted with an
exercise price lower than the market value 
of the underlying Common Stock on the date
of grant.  

Since 2005, the Company has granted
restricted stock and restricted stock units
under its share-based compensation pro-
gram. The Company amortizes the fair value
of restricted stock and restricted stock unit
awards, which is based on the closing market
price on the date of grant, to compensation
expense generally on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, taking into consideration
an estimate of shares expected to vest.

Insurance Reserves: The Company is self-
insured up to certain limits for workers’ com-
pensation and certain third-party casualty
claims. For 2007 and 2006, these limits are
$1.0 million for each cargo loss, $1.0 million
for each workers’ compensation loss and
generally $1.0 million for each third-party
casualty loss. Workers’ compensation and
third-party casualty claims liabilities recorded
in the financial statements totaled $78.3 mil-
lion and $73.9 million at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. The Company does
not discount its claims liabilities.

Management estimates the development of
the claims by applying the Company’s histor-
ical claim development factors to incurred
claim amounts. Actual payments may differ
from management’s estimates as a result of a
number of factors, including increases in
medical costs and other case-specific fac-
tors. The actual claims payments are charged
against the Company’s accrued claims liabili-
ties and have been reasonable with respect to
the estimates of the liabilities made under the
Company’s methodology.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING
PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159,
The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities. This statement permits
companies to choose to measure selected
financial assets and liabilities at fair value.
Adoption of this statement, which is effective
for the Company beginning January 1, 2008,
is not expected to have a material effect 
on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This
statement clarifies the definition of fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair
value and expands the disclosures on fair
value measurements. Adoption of this state-
ment, which is effective for the Company
beginning January 1, 2008, is not expected to
have a material effect on the Company’s con-
solidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force
(“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF Issue
No. 06-4 Accounting for Deferred Compen-
sation and Postretirement Benefit Aspects of
Endorsement Split-Dollar Life Insurance
Arrangements (“EITF 06-4”), which requires
the Company to recognize a postretirement
liability for the discounted future benefit 
obligation that the Company will have to pay
upon the death of the underlying insured
employee. EITF 06-4 is effective for the
Company beginning January 1, 2008.
Although the Company maintains endorse-
ment split-dollar life insurance policies, adop-
tion of EITF 06-4 is not expected to have a
material effect on the Company’s consoli-
dated financial statements. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

The Company’s primary sources of liquidity
are cash generated by operations, short-term
investments and borrowing capacity under its
revolving credit agreement.  

Cash Flow and Short-Term Investments:
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments totaled $173.2 million at
December 31, 2007, and $140.3 million at
December 31, 2006. 

During 2007, cash provided from operations
of $143.1 million, proceeds from asset sales
of $12.1 million and proceeds from stock
option exercises of $2.7 million were used to
purchase revenue equipment (tractors and
trailers used primarily in ABF’s operations)
and other property and equipment totaling
$96.7 million, make payments on long-term
debt of $1.4 million, purchase 125,000
shares of the Company’s Common Stock for
$4.9 million and pay dividends on Common
Stock of $15.2 million. The decline in cash
provided by operations during 2007 com-
pared to 2006 primarily reflects the impact of
the weaker freight tonnage environment on
ABF’s operating income. 

During 2006, cash provided from operations
of $168.5 million, proceeds from the sale of
Clipper of $21.5 million and proceeds from
asset sales of $11.9 million were used to pur-
chase revenue equipment and other property
and equipment totaling $147.5 million, pay
dividends on Common Stock of $15.3 million
and purchase 650,000 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock for $26.9 million.

During 2005, cash provided from operations
of $147.5 million and proceeds from asset
sales of $29.1 million were used to purchase
revenue equipment and other property and
equipment totaling $93.1 million, pay divi-
dends on Common Stock of $13.7 million and
purchase 371,650 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock for $12.6 million.

Credit Agreement: The Company has a
revolving credit agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) with a syndicate of ten financial

institutions dated May 4, 2007. The Credit
Agreement, which has a maturity date of May
4, 2012, provides for up to $325.0 million of
revolving credit loans (including a $150.0 mil-
lion sublimit for letters of credit) and allows
the Company to request extensions of the
maturity date for a period not to exceed two
years, subject to approval of a majority of the
participating financial institutions. The Credit
Agreement also allows the Company to
request an increase in the amount of revolving
credit loans of up to $200.0 million to an
aggregate amount of $525.0 million, to the
extent commitments are received from partic-
ipating lenders.

Interest rates under the agreement are at vari-
able rates as defined by the Credit Agreement.
The Credit Agreement contains a pricing grid,
based on the Company’s senior debt ratings,
that determines its Eurodollar margin, facility
fees, utilization fees and letter of credit fees.
The Credit Agreement requires the payment of
a utilization fee if the borrowings under the
Credit Agreement exceed 50% of the facility
amount. 

The Company has a senior unsecured debt
rating of BBB+ with a stable outlook by
Standard & Poor’s Rating Service and a sen-
ior unsecured debt rating of Baa2 with a 
stable outlook by Moody’s Investors Service,
Inc. The Company has no downward rating
triggers that would accelerate the maturity of
amounts drawn under the Credit Agreement.
The Credit Agreement contains various cus-
tomary covenants, which limit, among other
things, indebtedness and dispositions of
assets and which require the Company to
maintain compliance with certain quarterly
financial ratios. As of December 31, 2007, the
Company was in compliance with the
covenants.

As of December 31, 2007, there were no out-
standing revolver advances and there were
$53.6 million of outstanding letters of credit
issued, resulting in borrowing capacity of
$271.4 million. As of December 31, 2006,
there were no outstanding revolver advances
and approximately $51.3 million of outstand-
ing letters of credit. 
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Contractual Obligations: The following table provides the aggregate annual contractual obligations of the Company including debt, capital and oper-
ating lease obligations, purchase obligations and near-term estimated benefit plan distributions as of December 31, 2007:

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Payments Due by Period

($ thousands)

Total
Less Than 

1 Year
1–3 

Years
3–5

Years
More Than

5 Years

Capital lease obligations, including interest  . . .
Operating lease obligations(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Purchase obligations(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Voluntary savings plan(3)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Postretirement health distributions(4)  . . . . . . . .
Deferred salary distributions(5)  . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Supplemental pension distributions(6)  . . . . . . . .
Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 2,059
41,624

899
4,567

725
815

6,216
$     56,905

$ 257
12,270

899
4,567

725
815

6,216
$    25,749

$ 429
16,987

$ 17,416

$ 359
8,575

$       8,934

$ 1,014
3,792

$       4,806

(1) While the Company owns the majority of
its larger terminals and distribution cen-
ters, certain facilities and equipment are
leased. As of December 31, 2007, the
Company had future minimum rental
commitments, net of noncancelable sub-
leases, totaling $39.2 million for terminal
facilities and $2.4 million for other equip-
ment. The future minimum rental commit-
ments are presented exclusive of
executory costs such as insurance,
maintenance and taxes. In addition, the
Company has provided lease guarantees
through March 2012 totaling $1.0 million
related to Clipper, a former subsidiary of
the Company.

(2) Purchase obligations relating to revenue
equipment and property are cancelable if
certain conditions are met. These com-
mitments are included in the Company’s
2008 capital expenditure plan (see
Capital Expenditures section within
Liquidity and Capital Resources).

(3) The Company maintains a Voluntary
Savings Plan (“VSP”), a nonqualified
deferred compensation plan for the bene-
fit of certain executives of the Company
and certain subsidiaries. Eligible employ-
ees may defer receipt of a portion of their
regular compensation, incentive compen-
sation and other bonuses into the 
VSP. The Company credits participants’
accounts with applicable matching con-
tributions and rates of return based on
investments selected by the participants.
All deferrals, Company match and invest-

ment earnings are considered part of the
general assets of the Company until paid.
Elective distributions anticipated within
the next twelve months under this plan
are included in the contractual obligations
table above. Future distributions are sub-
ject to change for retirement, death or
disability of current employees. As a
result, estimates of distributions beyond
one year cannot be made with a reason-
able level of accuracy and are not 
presented.

(4) The Company sponsors an insured
postretirement health benefit plan that
provides supplemental medical benefits,
life and accident insurance and vision
care to certain officers of the Company
and certain subsidiaries. The plan is gen-
erally noncontributory, with the Company
paying the premiums. The Company’s
projected distributions for postretirement
health benefits for 2008 are included in
the contractual obligations table above.
Future distributions are subject to change
based upon assumptions for projected
discount rates, increases in premiums
and medical costs and continuation of the
plan for current participants. As a result,
estimates of distributions beyond one
year are not presented.

(5) The Company has deferred salary agree-
ments with certain employees of the
Company. The Company’s projected
deferred salary agreement distributions
for 2008 are included in the contractual
obligations table above. Future distribu-

tions are subject to change based upon
assumptions for projected salaries and
retirements, deaths, disability or early
retirement of current employees. As a
result, estimates of distributions beyond
one year cannot be made with a reason-
able level of accuracy and are not pre-
sented.

(6) The Company has an unfunded supple-
mental pension benefit plan for the pur-
pose of providing supplemental
retirement benefits to executive officers
of the Company and certain subsidiaries.
Distributions anticipated within the next
twelve months under this plan are
included in the contractual obligations
table above. The amounts and dates of
distributions in future periods are depend-
ent upon actual retirement dates of eligi-
ble officers and other events and factors,
including assumptions involved in distri-
bution calculations such as the discount
rate, years of service and future salary
changes. As a result, estimates of distri-
butions beyond one year cannot be made
with a reasonable level of accuracy 
and are not presented. Supplemental pen-
sion benefit plan liabilities accrued 
in the accompanying consolidated bal-
ance sheet totaled $24.2 million at
December 31, 2007. 

Under Financial Accounting Standards
Board Statement No. 88, Employers’
Accounting for Settlements and
Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension
Plans and for Termination Benefits (“FAS



88”), the Company is required to record
pension settlement expense when cash
payouts exceed annual service and inter-
est costs of the related plan. Based on
announced retirements, the Company
anticipates settling obligations during
2008 of $6.2 million and recording addi-
tional pension settlement expense of
approximately $1.7 million on a pre-tax
basis, or $0.04 per diluted share, net of
taxes. The final settlement amounts will
be calculated based on the terms of the
plan, using the discount rates in effect at
the settlement dates.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Compen-
sation Committee of the Company’s
Board of Directors elected to close the
supplemental pension benefit plan and
deferred salary agreement programs to
new entrants. In place of these programs,
officers appointed after 2005 participate

in a long-term cash incentive plan that is
based 60% on the Company’s three-year
average return on capital employed and
40% on the Company achieving specified
levels of profitability or earnings per share
growth, as defined in the plan. In 2006,
three officers elected to switch from par-
ticipation in the supplemental pension
benefit plan and deferred salary agree-
ment programs to the long-term cash
incentive plan under terms approved by
the Company’s Compensation Commit-
tee. As a result, the participants who
elected to switch benefit programs will no
longer earn additional benefits under the
supplemental pension benefit plan and
deferred salary agreement programs after
January 31, 2008.

The Company does not expect to have
required minimum contributions, but
could make tax-deductible contributions

to its nonunion pension plan in 2008.
Based upon current information, the
Company anticipates making 2008 con-
tributions of up to $8.0 million, which will
not exceed the estimated maximum tax-
deductible contribution. In August 2006,
the Pension Protection Act of 2006 (the
“Act”) became law. The Company does
not expect any material impact on the
required contributions to its nonunion
defined benefit pension plan as a result 
of the Act. 

ABF contributes to multiemployer health,
welfare and pension plans based on the
time worked by its contractual employ-
ees, as specified in the collective bargain-
ing agreement and other supporting
supplemental agreements (see Note J to
the Company’s consolidated financial
statements).
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Capital Expenditures: The following table sets forth the Company’s historical capital expenditures, net of proceeds from asset sales, for the periods
indicated below:

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (NET)

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands)

ABF Freight System, Inc.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations (Clipper)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other and eliminations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total consolidated capital expenditures (net) . . . . . . .

$ 84,635
–

1,467
$         86,102

$ 132,379
2,544

627
$       135,550

$ 82,371
(566)

(17,496)
$         64,309

The amounts presented in the table above
include purchases financed with capital
leases of $1.5 million in 2007 and $0.3 mil-
lion in 2005. No capital lease obligations were
incurred in 2006. 

ABF’s 2007 net capital expenditures were
below 2006 levels primarily reflecting $11.4
million less spending on rail trailers, $9.7 mil-
lion less on city delivery equipment and $8.3
million less spending on road tractors.  

In 2006, ABF spent $22.3 million more than in
2005 on additions and replacements of city
tractors, city delivery equipment and full-
length road trailers. Also in 2006, ABF 
purchased rail trailers for approximately 
$11.4 million. In the past, ABF used trailers

supplied by the rail companies or leased from
third parties. 

During 2005, Clipper sold more equipment
than it purchased, and the “Other” category
includes $19.5 million in proceeds from the
sale of terminal facilities to G.I. Trucking
Company (see Note Q to the Company’s con-
solidated financial statements).

In 2008, the Company estimates net capital
expenditures to be in a range of approximately
$60.0 million to $70.0 million, which relates
primarily to ABF. The low end of this expected
2008 range consists of road and city equip-
ment replacements of approximately $40.0
million and real estate and other (including
dock/yard equipment and technology) of

approximately $20.0 million. The 2008 capital
expenditure plan is below 2007 levels
because ABF is not expected to replace as
many road tractors and trailers. The 2008
plan does not include expansion of the road
tractor and doubles-trailer fleets. The
Company has the flexibility to adjust planned
2008 capital expenditures as business levels
dictate. There is the potential for additional
2008 capital expenditures amounting to as
much as $10.0 million above the low-end 
figure of $60.0 million. These expenditures
could include purchases for real estate, if
needs and opportunities arise.

Depreciation and amortization expense is esti-
mated to be $75.0 million to $80.0 million 
in 2008.



Other Liquidity Information: The Company
has generated between $143.1 million and
$168.5 million of operating cash flow annually
for the years 2005 through 2007. The
Company expects cash generated by opera-
tions, short-term investments and amounts
available under the existing Credit Agreement
to be sufficient for the foreseeable future to
finance its annual debt maturities; lease 
commitments; letter of credit commitments;
quar terly dividends; stock repurchases;
nonunion benefit plan contributions and
unfunded supplemental pension benefits;
capital expenditures; health, welfare and pen-
sion contributions under collective bargaining
agreements; and other expenditures. 

The Company expects to continue to pay
quarterly dividends in the foreseeable future,
although there can be no assurances in this
regard since future dividends are dependent
upon future earnings, capital requirements,
the Company’s financial condition and other
factors. 

Financial Instruments: The Company has not
historically entered into financial instruments
for trading purposes, nor has the Company
historically engaged in hedging fuel prices. No
such instruments were outstanding during
2007 or 2006. The Company was a party to
an interest rate swap on a notional amount of
$110.0 million, which matured on April 1,
2005 (see Note E to the Company’s consoli-
dated financial statements).

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS

The Company’s off-balance-sheet arrange-
ments include future minimum rental commit-
ments, net of noncancelable subleases, of
$41.6 million under operating lease agree-
ments (see Note G to the Company’s consol-
idated financial statements). The Company
has no investments, loans or any other known
contractual arrangements with special-pur-
pose entities, variable interest entities or
financial partnerships and has no outstanding
loans with executive officers or directors of
the Company.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Executive Overview

Arkansas Best Corporation is a holding com-
pany engaged through its subsidiaries prima-
rily in motor carrier transportation operations.
The principal subsidiary of the company is
ABF Freight System, Inc. (“ABF”). For the year
ended December 31, 2007, ABF represented
96.4% of consolidated revenues. 

On an ongoing basis, ABF’s ability to operate
profitably and generate cash is impacted by
tonnage, which influences operating leverage
as tonnage levels vary; the pricing environ-
ment; customer account mix; and the ability
to manage costs effectively, primarily in the
area of salaries, wages and benefits (“labor”). 

ABF’s revenue for 2007 decreased 3.3%, on a
per-day basis, compared to 2006. The
decrease in revenues reflects lower tonnage
levels and changes in revenue per hundred-
weight, including fuel surcharges. 

ABF’s 2007 operating ratio increased to
95.2% from 93.2% in 2006. The increase in
ABF’s operating ratio was influenced by the
decline in the year-over-year tonnage levels
and additional operating expenses associated
with investment in regional service initiatives.
The impact of these items more than offset
the favorable effect of a decrease in pension
settlement expense. These changes are more
fully discussed in the ABF section of
Management’s Discussion and Analysis that
follows.

ABF’s ability to maintain or grow existing ton-
nage levels is impacted by the state of resi-
dential and commercial construction, manu-
facturing and retail sectors of the North
American economy, as well as a number of
other competitive factors that are more fully
described in the General Development of
Business and Risk Factors sections of the
Company’s 2007 Annual Report to
Stockholders on Form 10-K. Year-over-year
tonnage comparisons for 2007 were affected
by increased tonnage levels experienced in
the first nine months of 2006. Due to a favor-
able freight environment in the U.S. construc-
tion, manufacturing and retail sectors, ABF’s

tonnage for the first nine months of 2006 was
4.4% higher than the same period in 2005.
However, beginning in the fourth quarter of
2006, ABF began to experience year-over-
year declines in tonnage, primarily reflecting a
weakening freight environment. Through the
first nine months of 2007, tonnage per day
declined 6.2% below the same period in
2006. ABF’s total tonnage per day during the
fourth quarter of 2007 decreased 1.5% com-
pared to the fourth quarter 2006. ABF’s year-
over-year monthly tonnage trends improved
throughout the quarter, with a 3.9% decline in
October, a 0.5% decline in November and a
0.3% increase in December. Through mid-
February 2008, total tonnage is slightly high-
er compared to the same period in 2007. As
there are numerous factors that impact ton-
nage, ABF cannot predict with reasonable 
certainty future tonnage levels. First quarter
tonnage levels are normally lower during
January and February while March provides a
disproportionately higher amount of the quar-
ter’s business. The first quarter of each year 
generally has the highest operating ratio of 
the year. 

The industry pricing environment is another
key to ABF’s operating performance. The
pricing environment influences ABF’s ability to
obtain compensatory margins and price
increases on customer accounts. Changes in
ABF’s pricing are typically measured by billed
revenue per hundredweight. This measure is
affected by profile factors such as average
shipment size, average length of haul, freight
density and customer and geographic mix.
For many years, consistent profile character-
istics made billed revenue per hundredweight
changes a reasonable, although approximate,
measure of price change. In the last few
years, it has become more difficult to quantify
with sufficient accuracy the impact of
changes in profile characteristics in order to
estimate true price changes. ABF focuses on
individual account profitability and rarely con-
siders revenue per hundredweight in its cus-
tomer account or market evaluations. For ABF,
total company profitability must be consid-
ered, together with measures of billed revenue
per hundredweight changes. During 2007, the
pricing environment was competitive, with
total billed revenue per hundredweight, includ-
ing fuel surcharges, increasing 1.9% over the
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prior year following a 5.0% increase reported
in 2006 over 2005. The pricing environment
generally becomes more competitive during
periods of lower industry tonnage levels.
During 2007, ABF also experienced freight
profile changes that impacted the reported
revenue per hundredweight, as further dis-
cussed in the ABF section. The combination
of a higher proportion of truckload-rated ship-
ments in the volume spot market and a
shorter length of haul has the effect of reduc-
ing the overall revenue per hundredweight
without a commensurate impact on effective
pricing or shipment profitability. Management
expects the pricing environment in 2008 to
remain competitive, although there can be 
no assurances in this regard. Effective 
February 4, 2008, ABF implemented a general
rate increase of 5.45% to cover known and
expected cost increases, although the
amounts vary by lane and shipment charac-
teristic. The 2008 general rate increase, which
is in line with increases announced by other
less-than-truckload carriers, was imple-
mented seven weeks earlier than the increase
put in place in 2007. ABF’s ability to retain this
rate increase is dependent on the competitive
pricing environment.

Labor costs are impacted by ABF’s contractu-
al obligations under its labor agreement pri-
marily with the International Brotherhood of
Teamsters (“IBT”). ABF’s current five-year
agreement with the IBT expires on March 31,
2008. During February 2008, the Company
announced that the IBT has ratified a new five-
year collective bargaining agreement with the
Company. The new agreement, which will be
effective April 1, 2008, provides for com-
pounded annual contractual wage and benefit
increases of 3.8%, subject to wage rate cost-
of-living adjustments. ABF’s ability to effec-
tively manage labor costs, which amounted to
approximately 61% of ABF’s revenues for
2007, has a direct impact on its operating per-
formance. Shipments per dock, street and
yard (“DSY”) hour and total pounds per mile
are measures ABF uses to assess effective-
ness of labor costs. Shipments per DSY hour
is used to measure effectiveness in ABF’s
local operations, although total pounds per
DSY hour is also a relevant measure when the
average shipment size is changing. Total
pounds per mile is used by ABF to measure

the effectiveness of its linehaul operations,
although this metric is influenced by other
factors, including freight density, loading effi-
ciency, average length of haul and the degree
to which rail service is used. ABF is generally
effective in managing its labor costs to 
business levels, although labor as a percent-
age of revenue does increase during periods
of business decline. Labor costs include
retirement and health care benefits for ABF’s
contractual employees that are provided by a
number of multiemployer plans (see Note J to
the accompanying consolidated financial
statements).

The transportation industry is dependent upon
the availability of adequate fuel supplies. The
Company has not experienced a lack of avail-
able fuel but could be adversely impacted if a
fuel shortage were to develop. Although fuel
prices for the first nine months of 2007 were
relatively consistent with the prior year period,
ABF experienced higher fuel prices in the
fourth quarter of 2007. ABF charges a fuel
surcharge based on changes in diesel fuel
prices compared to a national index. The ABF
fuel surcharge rate in effect is available on the
ABF Web site at abf.com. Although revenues
from fuel surcharges generally more than off-
set increases in direct diesel fuel costs, other
operating costs have been, and may continue
to be, impacted by fluctuating fuel prices. The
total impact of higher energy prices on other
nonfuel-related expenses is difficult to ascer-
tain. ABF cannot predict, with reasonable cer-
tainty, future fuel price fluctuations, the impact
of higher energy prices on other cost ele-
ments, recoverability of higher fuel costs
through fuel surcharges, the effect of fuel sur-
charges on ABF’s overall rate structure or the
total price that ABF will receive from its cus-
tomers. During periods of changing diesel fuel
prices, the fuel surcharge and associated
direct diesel fuel costs also vary by different
degrees. Depending upon the rates of these
changes and the impact on costs in other
fuel- and energy-related areas, operating mar-
gins could be impacted. Whether fuel prices
fluctuate or remain constant, ABF’s operating
income may be adversely affected if compet-
itive pressures limit its ability to recover fuel
surcharges. The fuel surcharge mechanism
continued to have strong market acceptance
among ABF customers in 2007. Lower fuel

surcharge levels may over time improve
ABF’s ability to increase other elements of
margin although there can be no assurances
in this regard. While the fuel surcharge is one
of several components in ABF’s overall rate
structure, the actual rate paid by customers is
governed by market forces based on value
provided to the customer.  

In addition to the traditional long-haul model,
ABF has implemented a regional network to
facilitate its customers’ next-day and second-
day delivery needs. Development and expan-
sion of the regional network required added
labor flexibility, strategically positioned freight
exchange points and increased door capacity
at a number of key locations. The operational
implementation of this program began in June
2005 in certain ABF facilities in the Northeast.
Through a multi-phased program, ABF’s
regional network now covers the eastern two-
thirds of the United States. Marketing of the
regional initiative known as the Regional
Performance Model (“RPM”) was initiated 
in August 2006 in the East Coast states and 
in January 2007 in the South and Central
regions.

During 2007, the operation of ABF’s RPM ini-
tiative has been in line with management’s
expectations. Management estimates that
costs of the RPM initiative increased ABF’s
operating ratio by approximately one percent-
age point in 2007 compared to 2006. The
RPM impact on ABF’s operating income and
operating ratio in the fourth quarter 2007 was
minimal compared to 2006, and management
expects the year-over-year RPM effect on
ABF’s 2008 operating margin and operating
ratio to be insignificant. However, anticipated
expansion of RPM to the Western region of
the United States, which may be implemented
in late 2008, could impact the annual cost of
operating this program.

The Company ended 2007 with no borrow-
ings under its revolving Credit Agreement,
$173.2 million in cash and short-term invest-
ments and $632.4 million in stockholders’
equity. Because of the Company’s financial
position at December 31, 2007, the Company
should continue to be in a position to pursue
various initiatives.
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Consolidated revenues from continuing oper-
ations for the year ended December 31, 2007,
decreased 2.4% on a per-day basis as com-
pared to 2006, primarily due to the revenue
decline at ABF, as discussed in the ABF sec-
tion of Management’s Discussion and
Analysis that follows.

Consolidated operating income from continu-
ing operations for 2007 decreased $39.8 mil-
lion, or 32.0%, compared to 2006.
Consolidated income from continuing opera-
tions per share for the year ended December
31, 2007, decreased 28.5% compared to
2006. The comparisons primarily reflect the

operating results of ABF as discussed in the
ABF section that follows and were impacted
by pension settlement expense described
below:
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As discussed in Note R to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, in June
2006, the Company sold Clipper, its inter-
modal subsidiary. The Company’s discontin-

ued operations for 2006 included an after-tax
gain of $0.12 per diluted share as a result of
the sale. In addition, discontinued operations
for 2006 included after-tax income of $0.02

per diluted share associated with Clipper’s
operating results through the closing date of
the sale.

2007 COMPARED TO 2006

Consolidated Results

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

($ thousands, except workdays and per share data)

WORKDAYS  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
OPERATING REVENUES

ABF* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other revenues and eliminations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
ABF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other and eliminations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

NET INCOME  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

252

$ 1,770,749
66,129

$ 1,836,878

$ 84,521
323

$ 84,844

$ 2.26
–

$ 2.26

252

$ 1,831,351
50,149

$ 1,881,500

$ 125,116
(437)

$ 124,679

$ 3.16
0.14

$ 3.30

* The 2006 statement of income includes reclassifications to report revenue and purchased transportation expense on a gross basis for certain shipments, including 
third-party interline carriers and certain brokerage transactions where ABF utilizes a third-party carrier for pickup or delivery of freight but remains the primary obligor to
provide services to the customer.

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

($ thousands, except per share data)

Pension settlement expense*
Effect on operating income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Effect on diluted earnings per share, net of taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ (1,665)

$ (0.04)

$ (10,192)

$ (0.24)

* The Company has an unfunded supplemental pension benefit plan for the purpose of providing supplemental retirement benefits to certain executive officers of the
Company (see Note J to the accompanying consolidated financial statements). Based on announced retirements, the Company anticipates settling obligations during 2008
of $6.2 million and recording additional pension settlement expense of $1.7 million on a pre-tax basis, or $0.04 per share, net of taxes. The final settlement amounts will
be calculated based on the terms of the plan, using the discount rates in effect at the settlement dates.



ABF’s revenue for 2007 was $1,770.7 million,
a decrease of $60.6 million compared to
$1,831.3 million reported in 2006. ABF’s rev-
enue-per-day decrease of 3.3% in 2007 was
primarily attributable to a decline in tonnage of
5.1%, partially offset by a 1.9% increase in
revenue per hundredweight, including fuel
surcharges. ABF charges a fuel surcharge
based on changes in diesel fuel prices com-
pared to a national index. The ABF fuel sur-
charge rate in effect is available at abf.com.

Effective March 26, 2007 and April 3, 2006,
ABF implemented general rate increases to

cover known and expected cost increases.
Nominally, the increases were 4.95% and
5.90%, respectively, although the amounts
vary by lane and shipment characteristic.
ABF’s increase of 1.9% in revenue per hun-
dredweight for 2007 versus 2006 has been
impacted not only by the general rate increase
and fuel surcharge increases, but also by
changes in profile such as length of haul,
weight per shipment, freight density and cus-
tomer and geographic mix. Compared to
2006, total weight per shipment was relatively
consistent and length of haul decreased 1.6%,
influenced in par t by success with the

regional freight initiative. In addition, ABF
experienced a higher proportion of truckload-
rated shipments, including business in the
volume spot market. A shorter length of haul
and a higher mix of volume spot shipments
reduce the nominal revenue per hundred-
weight without a commensurate impact on
effective pricing or shipment profitability. The
year-over-year change in billed revenue per
hundredweight reflects a competitive pricing
environment.

ABF generated operating income of $84.5 mil-
lion in 2007, a decrease of 32.4% compared

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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Year Ended December 31

2007 2006

ABF Operating Expenses and Costs
Salaries, wages and benefits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Supplies and expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating taxes and licenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Insurance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Communications and utilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Depreciation and amortization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Rents and purchased transportation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Pension settlement expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gain on sale of property and equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

ABF Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

60.5%
16.5
2.7
1.3
0.9
4.2
9.0
0.2
0.1

(0.2)
95.2%

4.8%

58.3%
16.0

2.6
1.6
0.8
3.5
9.8
0.2
0.6

(0.2)
93.2%

6.8%

ABF Freight System, Inc.

The following table sets forth a summary of operating expenses and operating income as a percentage of revenue for ABF, the Company’s only
reportable operating segment:

The following table provides a comparison of key operating statistics for ABF:

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 % Change

Workdays  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Billed revenue* per hundredweight, including fuel surcharges  . . . . .

Pounds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pounds per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Shipments per DSY hour  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pounds per DSY hour  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pounds per shipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pounds per mile  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

252

$ 25.81

6,860,725,274

27,225,100

0.482

613.30

1,272

18.54

252

$ 25.32

7,226,941,364

28,678,339

0.487

618.84

1,270

18.80

1.9%

(5.1)%

(5.1)%

(1.0)%

(0.9)%

0.2%

(1.4)%

* Billed revenue does not include revenue deferral required for financial statement purposes under the Company’s revenue recognition policy.



to $125.1 million reported in 2006. ABF’s
2007 operating ratio increased to 95.2% from
93.2% reported in 2006. The increase in
ABF’s operating ratio in 2007 was influenced
by the decline in tonnage levels mentioned
above, as well as incremental costs associ-
ated with investments in RPM which added
approximately 1.0% of revenues to ABF’s
operating ratio and other changes in operating
expenses as discussed in the following para-
graphs. ABF’s operating expenses include
pension settlement expense of $1.7 million in
2007 and $10.2 million reported in 2006.
Pension settlement expense added 0.1% of
revenues to ABF’s operating ratio in 2007 
and 0.6% of revenues to the operating ratio 
in 2006. 

Salaries, wages and benefits expense for
2007 increased 2.2% of revenues compared
to 2006. A portion of salaries, wages and
benefits are fixed in nature and increase, as a
percent of revenue, with decreases in revenue
levels. The increase in salaries, wages and
benefits as a percent of revenue also reflects
annual contractual increases under the IBT
collective bargaining agreement. The 2007
annual wage adjustment occurred on April 1,
2007, for an increase of 2.3%, which followed
a 2.6% increase on April 1, 2006. On 
August 1, 2007, health, welfare and pension
benefit costs under this agreement increased
6.0%, which followed a 5.4% increase on
August 1, 2006. ABF’s current five-year
agreement with the IBT expires on March 31,
2008. During February 2008, the Company
announced that the IBT has ratified its new
five-year collective bargaining agreement. The
new agreement, which will be effective 
April 1, 2008, provides for compounded
annual contractual wage and benefit in-

creases of 3.8%, subject to wage rate cost-
of-living adjustments. 

Salaries, wages and benefits expense is also
influenced by managing labor costs with busi-
ness levels as measured by the productivity
figures reported in the previous tables. For
2007, pounds per DSY hour decreased 0.9%
and pounds per mile decreased 1.4%. These
measures reflect the effect of the tonnage
decline experienced in 2007 combined with
the addition of new employees to support
ABF’s RPM program and initiatives to improve
customer service. Management expects these
productivity measures to improve with
increasing tonnage levels.

Supplies and expenses increased 0.5% of rev-
enues over 2006 but were consistent when
compared to 2006 on an absolute dollar
basis. The increase in expenses as a percent
of revenues was impacted by higher fuel
costs, which increased on an average price-
per-gallon basis, excluding taxes, to $2.30 for
2007 from $2.12 in 2006. The increase in fuel
costs was partially offset by lower repairs and
maintenance costs primarily due to the sale of
older trailers in late 2006 and early 2007.

Insurance expense in 2007 declined 0.3% of
revenues compared to 2006 due primarily to
the lower severity of third-party casualty
claims and a lower cargo claims ratio.

Depreciation and amortization increased 0.7%
of revenues for 2007 compared to 2006. This
increase was due primarily to higher depreci-
ation on road tractors and trailers purchased
in 2006 and 2007 influenced by higher unit
costs and the effect of replacing older, fully
depreciated trailers with new trailers. The

impact of higher depreciation associated with
these new units was partially offset by
reduced rail spending that resulted in greater
utilization of ABF’s linehaul network, as dis-
cussed in the following paragraph, and by
reduced spending on the repair and mainte-
nance of trailers as previously mentioned.

Rents and purchased transportation de-
creased 0.8% of revenues for 2007 compared
to 2006. This decrease was due to a decline
in rail utilization to 12.7% in 2007 from 15.5%
of total miles reported in the prior year period,
reflecting higher utilization of ABF’s linehaul
network in order to improve customer service
levels.

As previously mentioned in the Executive
Overview, ABF put into place a general rate
increase on February 4, 2008, to cover
known and expected cost increases during
the remainder of 2008. ABF’s ability to retain
this rate increase is dependent on the compet-
itive pricing environment. ABF could continue
to be impacted by fluctuating fuel prices in the
future. ABF’s fuel surcharge is based on
changes in diesel fuel prices compared to a
national index. ABF’s total insurance costs are
dependent on the insurance markets and
claims experience. ABF’s results of opera-
tions have been impacted by the wage and
benefit increases associated with the labor
agreement with the IBT that extends through
March 31, 2008. As previously mentioned,
ABF’s results of operations in 2008 will be
impacted by the wage and benefit increases
associated with the new labor agreement with
the IBT, which is effective April 1, 2008.  
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2006 COMPARED TO 2005

Consolidated Results

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005

($ thousands, except work days and per share data)

WORKDAYS  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
OPERATING REVENUES

ABF*  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other revenues and eliminations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
ABF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other (includes a gain of $15.4 million on sale of

properties to G.I. Trucking Company in 2005) and eliminations  . . . . .

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

NET INCOME . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

252

$ 1,831,351
50,149

$ 1,881,500

$ 125,116

(437)
$ 124,679

$ 3.16
0.14

$ 3.30

253

$ 1,726,520
43,056

$ 1,769,576

$ 155,656

10,868
$ 166,524

$ 3.99
0.07

$ 4.06

*  The 2006 and 2005 statements of income include reclassifications to report revenue and purchased transportation expense on a gross basis for certain shipments,
including third-party interline carriers and certain brokerage transactions where ABF utilizes a third-party carrier for pickup or delivery of freight but remains the primary
obligor to provide services to the customer.

Consolidated revenues from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2006, increased 6.7% on a per-day basis as compared to 2005,
primarily due to revenue growth at ABF, as discussed in the ABF section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis that follows.

Consolidated operating income from continuing operations for 2006 decreased $41.8 million, or 25.1%, compared to 2005. The year-over-year
decline in operating income was impacted by the following:

Consolidated income from continuing operations per share for the year ended December 31, 2006 decreased 20.8% compared to 2005. The com-
parisons were impacted by the following:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005

($ thousands)

EFFECT ON OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
Pension settlement expense(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Share-based compensation expense(2)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gain on the sale of properties to G.I. Trucking Company(3)  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$          (10,192)
(4,708)

–

$ –
(842)

15,370

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005

EFFECT ON DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Pension settlement expense(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Share-based compensation expense(2)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gain on the sale of properties to G.I. Trucking Company(3)  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ (0.24)
(0.12)

–

$ –
(0.02)
0.38



(1) The Company has an unfunded supple-
mental pension benefit plan for the pur-
pose of providing supplemental retirement
benefits to executive officers of the
Company. The Company is required to
record pension settlement expense when
cash payouts exceed annual service and
interest costs of the related plan. During
2006, the Company settled obligations of
$26.5 million and, as a result, recorded
pension settlement expense of $10.2 mil-
lion on a pre-tax basis, or $0.24 per
diluted share, after-tax.

(2) Effective January 1, 2006, the Company
adopted the fair value recognition provi-
sions of Financial Accounting Standards
Board Statement No. 123(R), Share-
Based Payment (“FAS 123(R)”), using the
modified-prospective transition method.
Under this transition method, compensa-
tion expense recognized subsequent to
January 1, 2006, includes the costs of
stock options granted prior to, but not yet
vested as of January 1, 2006, based upon
the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of

Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation. Share-based com-
pensation expense associated with the
Company’s stock options was not recog-
nized in periods prior to 2006 as no
options have been granted with an exer-
cise price lower than the market value of
the underlying Common Stock on the date
of grant.  

For 2006, the compensation cost from
stock options and restricted stock grants
totaled $4.7 million on a pre-tax basis, or
$0.12 per diluted share, net of taxes. For
the year ended December 31, 2005,
restricted stock expense was $0.8 million,
on a pre-tax basis, or $0.02 per diluted
share, after-tax. 

(3) During the third quarter of 2005, the
Company sold three terminals to G.I.
Trucking Company, resulting in a pre-tax
gain of $15.4 million. On an after-tax
basis, the transaction resulted in a gain of
$9.8 million, or $0.38 per diluted share.

In addition to the above items, consolidated
income from continuing operations and
related per-share amounts for 2006 primarily
reflect the operating results of ABF, as dis-
cussed in the ABF section that follows.

As discussed in Note R to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, on June
15, 2006, the Company sold Clipper, its inter-
modal subsidiary. The Company’s discontin-
ued operations include an after-tax gain of
$0.12 per diluted share as a result of the sale.
In addition, discontinued operations for 2006
include after-tax income of $0.02 per diluted
share associated with Clipper’s operating
results through the closing date of the sale.
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ABF Freight System, Inc.

The following table sets forth a summary of operating expenses and operating income as a percentage of revenue for ABF, the Company’s only
reportable operating segment:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005

ABF Operating Expenses and Costs
Salaries, wages and benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Supplies and expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating taxes and licenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Insurance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Communications and utilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Rents and purchased transportation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Pension settlement expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gain on sale of equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

ABF Operating Income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

58.3%
16.0
2.6
1.6
0.8
3.5
9.8
0.2
0.6

(0.2)
93.2%

6.8%

58.3%
14.8

2.6
1.6
0.8
3.2
9.6
0.2
–

(0.1)
91.0%

9.0%



ABF’s revenue for 2006 was $1,831.4 million,
an increase of $104.9 million compared to
$1,726.5 million reported in 2005. ABF’s rev-
enue-per-day increase of 6.5% in 2006 is pri-
marily attributable to higher revenue per
hundredweight, including fuel surcharge, and
tonnage growth.

Effective April 3, 2006 and May 23, 2005,
ABF implemented general rate increases to
cover known and expected cost increases.
Nominally, the increases were 5.9% and
5.8%, respectively, although the amounts vary
by lane and shipment characteristic. ABF’s
increase in reported revenue per hundred-
weight for 2006 versus 2005 has been
impacted not only by the general rate increase
and fuel surcharge increases, but also by
changes in profile such as length of haul,
weight per shipment, freight density and cus-
tomer and geographic mix. ABF charges a fuel
surcharge based on changes in diesel fuel
prices compared to a national index. The ABF
fuel surcharge rate in effect is available at
abf.com. 

ABF’s yield was enhanced by improved rates,
including fuel surcharges. For 2006, total
weight per shipment increased 0.7% and
length of haul decreased 1.0%. Higher weight
per shipment and shorter length of haul
reduce the nominal revenue per hundred-
weight, without a commensurate impact on
effective pricing or shipment profitability. The
year-over-year change in billed revenue per

hundredweight reflects a rational pricing 
environment.

ABF generated operating income of $125.1
million in 2006, a decrease of 19.7% com-
pared to $155.7 million reported in 2005. The
effect of higher revenues on operating profit
was more than offset by an increase in oper-
ating expenses, including pension settlement
expense of $10.2 million in 2006. ABF’s 2006
operating ratio increased to 93.2% from
91.0% reported in 2005. The favorable impact
on the 2006 operating ratio of higher yields
and tonnage levels as compared to the prior
year was offset by changes in operating
expenses, which were influenced by pension
settlement expense, incremental share-based
compensation, investment in regional service
initiatives and the effect of a rapid tonnage
decline in the fourth quarter. Settlement
accounting expense added 0.6 percentage
points to ABF’s 2006 operating ratio.
Although tonnage increased on a full year
basis, ABF’s total tonnage per day during the
fourth quarter of 2006 decreased by 6.8%
compared to the fourth quarter of 2005.
Furthermore, the sequential decrease in ton-
nage per day was steep, declining 8.2% from
September 2006 to October 2006. The fourth
quarter tonnage decline was unexpected and
one of the most severe in ABF’s history, and
as a result, ABF was delayed in reducing labor
and other operating costs from the ABF sys-
tem. The delay in adjusting labor costs to
business levels, combined with continuing

investment in people and infrastructure to
support the RPM initiatives and improve-
ments in customer service levels, contributed
to deterioration in the 2006 operating ratio.

Salaries, wages and benefits expense for
2006 were consistent with 2005 as a percent
of revenue. A portion of salaries, wages and
benefits are fixed in nature and decrease, as a
percent of revenue, with increases in revenue
levels. However, the impact of higher rev-
enues on salaries, wages and benefits as a
percent of revenue was offset, in part, by con-
tractual increases under the IBT collective
bargaining agreement. The five-year agree-
ment was effective April 1, 2003, and 
provided for annual contractual total wage and
benefit increases of approximately 3.2% –
3.4%, subject to additional wage rate cost-of-
living increases. The annual wage adjustment
occurred on April 1, 2006, for an increase of
2.6%, which included a $0.10 per hour cost-
of-living adjustment. An annual health, welfare
and pension cost increase of 5.7% occurred
on August 1, 2005. On August 1, 2006,
health, welfare and pension benefit costs
under this agreement increased 5.4%.
Incremental share-based compensation asso-
ciated with restricted stock awards and the
adoption of a new accounting standard, which
requires expensing of stock options, also neg-
atively impacted the year-over-year expense
comparison. 
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The following table provides a comparison of key operating statistics for ABF:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 % Change

Workdays  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Billed revenue* per hundredweight, including fuel surcharges  . . .

Pounds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pounds per day  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Shipments per DSY hour  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pounds per DSY hour  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pounds per shipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pounds per mile  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

252

$ 25.32

7,226,941,364

28,678,339

0.487

618.84

1,270

18.80

253

$ 24.12

7,149,631,230

28,259,412

0.508

627.20

1,261

19.29

5.0%

1.1%

1.5%

(4.1)%

(1.3)%

0.7%

(2.5)%

* Billed revenue does not include revenue deferral required for financial statement purposes under the Company’s revenue recognition policy.



Salaries, wages and benefits expense is also
influenced by managing labor costs with busi-
ness levels as measured by the productivity
figures reported in the above tables. For 2006,
pounds per DSY hour decreased 1.3% and
pounds per mile decreased 2.5%. These
measures reflect the effect of the unexpected
fourth quarter tonnage decline combined with
the addition of new employees to support
ABF’s current and future growth opportuni-
ties, including the RPM program, and initia-
tives to improve customer service.

Supplies and expenses increased 1.2% of rev-
enues over 2005, primarily reflecting higher
fuel costs. Fuel costs, on an average price-
per-gallon basis, excluding taxes, increased to
$2.12 for 2006, compared to $1.82 in 2005.
In addition, increased travel and lodging costs
associated with linehaul drivers and higher
repair costs of tractors and trailers impacted
the unfavorable year-over-year comparison.

Depreciation and amortization increased 0.3%
of revenues for 2006 compared to the same
periods in 2005. This increase is due prima-
rily to higher depreciation on road tractors and
trailers purchased in 2005 and 2006 influ-
enced by a low double-digit percentage
increase in unit costs from 2004 levels. ABF
continues to replace older, fully depreciated
trailers with new trailers. 

Rents and purchased transportation
increased 0.2% of revenues for 2006 com-
pared to 2005. This increase is due primarily
to costs of cartage, ocean and air transporta-
tion associated with higher demand for
growth in special markets and time-sensitive
services. In addition, rail costs per mile have
increased due to rate increases from major
carriers and rising fuel costs. However, the
impact of higher rail rates in 2006 was offset
by a decline of rail utilization to 15.5% from
16.6% reported in the prior year period,
reflecting higher utilization of ABF’s line-
haul network in order to improve customer
service levels.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

During the fourth quarter 2007, the Company
began transitioning out of its short-term
investments and into money market funds and
commercial paper, which are classified as
cash equivalents.

OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

Other long-term assets increased $8.8 million
from December 31, 2006 to December 31,
2007, primarily due to the reclassification of
additional assets as held for sale under ABF’s
process of evaluating assets expected to be
sold within the next 12 months. In addition, an
increase in the cash surrender value of the
Company’s life insurance policies contributed
to the growth in other assets. 

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
PAYABLE

The increase in deferred income taxes
payable primarily relates to an increase in the
difference between depreciation used for
income tax purposes and financial reporting
purposes on property, plant and equipment
purchased in 2007 and 2006.

INCOME TAXES

The difference between the Company’s effec-
tive tax rate and the federal statutory rate pri-
marily results from the effect of state income
taxes, nondeductible expenses, alternative
fuel tax credits (in 2007 only) and tax-exempt
income. The Company’s effective tax rate for
2007 was 37.4% compared to 38.8% for
2006. The lower effective tax rate in 2007 ver-
sus 2006 primarily reflects the recognition of
a federal tax credit under the alternative fuel
program and a higher proportion of tax-
exempt income. Management expects the
Company’s 2008 effective tax rate to range
from 39% to 40% due to transitioning from
tax-exempt short-term investments to taxable
cash equivalents, as discussed above.

At December 31, 2007, the Company had
recorded total deferred tax assets of $77.7
million and total deferred tax liabilities of
$71.9 million, resulting in net deferred tax
assets of $5.8 million. Net deferred tax assets
include $16.7 million related to unamortized
nonunion pension and postretirement benefit
cost which are included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss.

The Company has evaluated the need for a
valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets
by considering the future reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, taxable income
in prior carryback years, and future taxable
income. Deferred tax liabilities scheduled to
reverse in future years will offset the majority
of deferred tax assets. The Company had tax-
able income of $122.1 million in 2007 and
$127.9 million in 2006. As a result,  federal
income taxes paid in 2007 and 2006 and, in
some cases, state taxes paid would be avail-
able for recovery allowing realization of
remaining deferred tax assets to the extent
they exceed deferred tax liabilities. With
respect to future taxable income, the
Company has had substantial taxable income
in excess of reversing temporary differences
in all recent years. Based on evaluation of rel-
evant factors, management has concluded
that an additional valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets is not required at
December 31, 2007. The need for additional
valuation allowances will be continually mon-
itored by management.
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SEASONALITY

ABF is impacted by seasonal fluctuations,
which affect tonnage and shipment levels.
Freight shipments, operating costs and earn-
ings are also affected adversely by inclement
weather conditions. The third calendar quarter
of each year usually has the highest tonnage
levels while the first quarter generally has the
lowest.

EFFECTS OF INFLATION

Management believes that, for the periods
presented, inflation has not had a material
effect on the Company’s operating results as
inflationary increases in fuel and labor costs
have generally been offset through fuel sur-
charges and price increases.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The Company’s subsidiaries store fuel for use
in tractors and trucks in 71 underground tanks
located in 23 states. Maintenance of such
tanks is regulated at the federal and, in some
cases, state levels. The Company believes
that it is in substantial compliance with these
regulations. The Company’s underground
storage tanks are required to have leak detec-
tion systems. The Company is not aware of
any leaks from such tanks that could reason-
ably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on the Company. 

The Company has received notices from the
Environmental Protection Agency and others
that it has been identified as a potentially
responsible party under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response Compensation and
Liability Act, or other federal or state environ-
mental statutes, at several hazardous waste
sites. After investigating the Company’s or its
subsidiaries’ involvement in waste disposal or
waste generation at such sites, the Company
has either agreed to de minimis settlements

(aggregating approximately $103,000 over
the last 10 years, primarily at seven sites) or
believes its obligations, other than those
specifically accrued for with respect to such
sites, would involve immaterial monetary lia-
bility, although there can be no assurances in
this regard. 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the
Company’s reserve for estimated environ-
mental clean-up costs of properties currently
or previously operated by the Company
totaled $1.1 million and $1.2 million, respec-
tively, which is included in accrued expenses
in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. Amounts accrued reflect manage-
ment’s best estimate of the future undis-
counted exposure related to identified
properties based on current environmental
regulations. The Company’s estimate is based
on management’s experience with similar
environmental matters and on testing per-
formed at certain sites.
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The Company is exposed to market risk from
changes in certain interest rates, prices of
diesel fuel, credit ratings, and foreign cur-
rency exchange rates. These market risks
arise in the normal course of business, as the
Company does not engage in speculative
trading activities.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Company has certain investments in
money market funds and commercial paper
(classified as cash equivalents) and auction
rate and preferred securities that accrue
income at variable rates of interest. The carry-
ing amount and the fair value of the
Company’s cash equivalents and short-term
investments were $173.2 million at December
31, 2007, and $140.3 million at December
31, 2006. The potential change in annual
investment income resulting from a one per-
centage point change in interest rates applied
to the Company’s cash equivalents and short-
term investments that are exposed to variable
interest rates at December 31, 2007 and 2006
would be approximately $1.7 million and $1.4
million, respectively, on a pre-tax basis. 

The Company has historically been subject to
market risk on all or a part of its borrowings
under bank credit lines, which have variable
interest rates. As discussed in Note E to the
Company’s consolidated financial state-
ments, the Company’s interest rate swap
matured on April 1, 2005. During 2007 and
2006, the Company incurred no borrowings
and had no outstanding debt obligations other
than letters of credit under the Credit
Agreement. However, a one percentage point
change in interest rates on Credit Agreement
borrowings would change annual interest cost
by $100,000 per $10.0 million of borrowings.

OTHER MARKET RISKS 

The Company is subject to market risk for
increases in diesel fuel prices; however, this
risk is mitigated by fuel surcharges which are
included in the revenues of ABF based on
increases in diesel fuel prices compared to
relevant indexes. The Company has not his-
torically engaged in hedging fuel prices.

The Company is subject to credit risk for its
short-term investments; however, this risk is
mitigated by investing in high-quality, invest-

ment-grade auction rate securities. The
Company’s investment policy limits the
amount of credit exposure to any one counter-
party. In December 2007, the Company began
transitioning out of its short-term investments
into money market funds and commercial
paper. In January 2008, the Company sold
$78.5 million of short-term investments with
no realized gains or losses. At the end of
January 2008, the Company’s short-term
investments totaled less than $1.0 million.

Foreign operations are not significant to the
Company’s total revenues or assets, and,
accordingly, the Company does not have a
formal foreign currency risk management 
policy. Revenues from non-U.S. operations
amounted to approximately 1.7% of total rev-
enues for 2007. Foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuations have not had a significant
impact on the Company and they are not
expected to in the foreseeable future. 
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of 
Arkansas Best Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Arkansas Best Corporation as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related
consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Arkansas Best
Corporation at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note B to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”. As discussed in Note J to the consolidated financial statements, effective December 31, 2006, the
Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans”.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of
Arkansas Best Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 18, 2008,
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Tulsa, Oklahoma
February 18, 2008
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ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2007 2006

($ thousands)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Short-term investment securities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Accounts receivable, less allowances (2007 – $3,942; 2006 – $4,476)  . . . . . .
Other accounts receivable, less allowances (2007 – $774; 2006 – $1,272)  . . .
Prepaid expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Deferred income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Prepaid income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and structures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Revenue equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Service, office and other equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Leasehold improvements  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Less allowances for depreciation and amortization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OTHER ASSETS  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

GOODWILL  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 93,805
79,373

141,565
8,963

11,243
36,585
3,699
7,184

382,417

231,169
509,627
142,635
19,794

903,225
437,087
466,138

70,803

63,991

$ 983,349

$ 5,009
135,317
143,216

8,912
11,735
36,532

3,024
7,212

350,957

228,375
498,844
140,516

17,735
885,470
423,587
461,883

61,959

63,917

$ 938,716

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2007 2006

($ thousands, except share data)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank overdraft and drafts payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income taxes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Accrued expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Current portion of long-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

LONG-TERM DEBT, less current portion  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT LIABILITIES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OTHER LIABILITIES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 70,000,000 shares; 

issued 2007: 26,549,038 shares; 2006: 26,407,472 shares . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Additional paid-in capital  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Treasury stock, at cost, 2007: 1,677,932 shares; 2006: 1,552,932 shares  . . .
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 15,248
60,341
2,414

166,631
171

244,805

1,400

48,859

25,093

30,806

–

265
258,878
457,536
(57,770)
(26,523)
632,386

$ 983,349

$ 17,423
63,477

5,833
171,432

249
258,414

1,184

54,616

25,655

19,452

–

264
250,469
415,876
(52,825)
(34,389)
579,395

$ 938,716

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands, except share and per share data)

OPERATING REVENUES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OPERATING EXPENSES AND COSTS  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OPERATING INCOME  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Short-term investment income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Interest expense and other related financing costs  . . . . . . .
Other, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS,
BEFORE INCOME TAXES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAXES
Current  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Deferred  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET OF TAX
Income from operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gain from disposal  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

NET INCOME  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

NET INCOME  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING (BASIC) . . . . . .

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE:
Income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

NET INCOME  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING (DILUTED) . . . .

CASH DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID
PER COMMON SHARE  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 1,836,878

1,752,034

84,844

5,671
(1,189)
1,465
5,947

90,791

27,806
6,160

33,966

56,825

–
–
–

$ 56,825

$ 2.29
–

$ 2.29

24,822,673

$ 2.26
–

$ 2.26

25,117,597

$ 0.60

$ 1,881,500

1,756,821

124,679

4,996
(1,119)
2,963
6,840

131,519

50,667
351

51,018

80,501

530
3,063
3,593

$ 84,094

$ 3.21
0.14

$ 3.35

25,134,308

$ 3.16
0.14

$ 3.30

25,503,799

$ 0.60

$ 1,769,576

1,603,052

166,524

2,382
(2,157)
1,702
1,927

168,451

71,933
(6,235)
65,698

102,753

1,873
–

1,873

$ 104,626

$ 4.06
0.07

$ 4.13

25,328,975

$ 3.99
0.07

$ 4.06

25,741,540

$ 0.54

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock Additional
Pain-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Treasury Stock
Unearned 

Compensation–
Restricted

Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total 
EquityShares Amount Shares Amount

($ and shares, thousands)

Balances at January 1, 2005  . . . . . . . . .
Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Change in foreign currency 

translation, net of tax of $13  . . . . . . . . .
Change in minimum pension 

liability, net of tax of $512 . . . . . . . . . . .
Total comprehensive income  . . . . . . .

Issuance of common stock under
share-based compensation plans  . . . .

Tax effect of share-based 
compensation plans  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Issuance of restricted
common stock  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Share-based compensation expense  . . . .
Purchases of treasury stock  . . . . . . . . . .
Dividends paid on common stock  . . . . . .
Balances at December 31, 2005  . . . . . .
Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Change in foreign currency 

translation, net of tax of $29  . . . . . . . . .
Change in minimum pension 

liability, net of tax of $2,933  . . . . . . . . .
Total comprehensive income  . . . . . . .

Adoption of FAS 158, net of tax
of $21,490  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Issuance of common stock under
share-based compensation plans  . . . . .

Tax effect of share-based 
compensation plans (including 
excess tax benefits of $1,710) 
and other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Reversal of unearned compensation
upon adoption of FAS 123(R)  . . . . . . . .

Share-based compensation expense  . . . .
Purchases of treasury stock  . . . . . . . . . .
Dividends paid on common stock  . . . . . .
Balances at December 31, 2006  . . . . . .
Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Change in foreign currency 

translation, net of tax of $40  . . . . . . . . .
Amortization of unrecognized net 

periodic benefit costs, net of tax
of $2,831

Net actuarial loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Prior service costs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net transition obligation  . . . . . . . . . . .

Settlement expense, net of tax 
of $647 (1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Unrecognized net actuarial gain,
net of tax of $1,491  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total comprehensive income  . . . . . .
Issuance of common stock under

share-based compensation plans  . . . . .
Tax effect of share-based

compensation plans (including 
excess tax benefits of $683) . . . . . . . . .

Share-based compensation expense  . . . .
Purchases of treasury stock  . . . . . . . . .
Dividends paid on common stock  . . . . . .
Balances at December 31, 2007  . . . . . .

25,806

294

182

26,282

307

(182)

26,407

142

26,549

$ 258
–

–

–

3

–

2
–
–
–

263
–

–

–

–

3

–

(2)
–
–
–

264
–

–

–
–
–

–

–

1

–
–
–
–

$ 265

$229,661
–

–

–

5,391

1,958

5,943
–
–
–

242,953
–

–

–

–

5,874

2,035

(5,101)
4,708

–
–

250,469
–

–

–
–
–

–

–

2,682

816
4,911

–
–

$258,878

$ 256,129
104,626

–

–

–

–

–
–
–

(13,704)
347,051

84,094

–

–

–

–

–

–
–
–

(15,269)
415,876

56,825

–

–
–
–

–

–

–

–
–
–

(15,165)
$ 457,536

531

372

903

650

1,553

125

1,678

$ (13,334)
–

–

–

–

–

–
–

(12,621)
–

(25,955)
–

–

–

–

–

–

–
–

(26,870)
–

(52,825)
–

–

–
–
–

–

–

–

–
–

(4,945)
–

$ (57,770)

$ –
–

–

–

–

–

(5,945)
842

–
–

(5,103)
–

–

–

–

–

–

5,103
–
–
–
–
–

–

–
–
–

–

–

–

–
–
–
–

$ –

$ (4,319)
–

(16)

(793)

–

–

–
–
–
–

(5,128)
–

(45)

4,539

(33,755)

–

–

–
–
–
–

(34,389)
–

61

4,030
405
11

1,018

2,341

–

–
–
–
–

$(26,523)

$ 468,395
104,626

(16)

(793)
103,817

5,394

1,958

–
842

(12,621)
(13,704)
554,081

84,094

(45)

4,539
88,588

(33,755)

5,877

2,035

–
4,708

(26,870)
(15,269)
579,395

56,825

61

4,030
405
11

1,018

2,341
64,691

2,683

816
4,911

(4,945)
(15,165)

$ 632,386

(1)  Consists of adjustments to unrecognized actuarial loss and transition obligation as a result of pension settlement expense (see Note J).
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other amortization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Pension settlement expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Share-based compensation expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Provision for losses on accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Fair value of interest rate swap . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of taxes  . . . . . . . . . .
Gain on sales of assets and other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Prepaid expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Accounts payable, taxes payable,

accrued expenses and other liabilities(1, 2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, less capitalized leases(2)  . . .
Proceeds from asset sales  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Proceeds from disposal of discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Purchases of short-term investment securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Proceeds from sales of short-term investment securities  . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Capitalization of internally developed software and other  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments on long-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net change in bank overdraft  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Payment of common stock dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Purchases of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Deferred financing costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

NET CASH USED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS . . . . . . . .
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 56,825

77,318
261

1,665
4,911
1,056
6,160

–
–

(4,351)
(683)

533
491

(676)

(377)
143,133

(96,670)
12,067

–
(292,064)
348,008

(4,599)
(33,258)

(1,360)
(2,175)

(15,165)
(4,945)

683
(800)

2,683
(21,079)

88,796
5,009

$ 93,805

$ 84,094

67,727
211

10,192
4,708
1,023

351
–

(3,063)
(3,547)
(1,710)

6,108
2,058

18,631

(18,327)
168,456

(147,463)
11,913
21,450

(386,358)
372,280

(4,117)
(132,295)

(317)
(2,050)

(15,269)
(26,870)

1,710
–

5,877
(36,919)

(758)
5,767

$ 5,009

$ 104,626

61,851
245

–
842

2,145
(5,370)

(873)
–

(17,302)
–

(17,090)
1,803

(10,560)

27,230
147,547

(93,119)
29,129

–
(378,445)
295,680

(4,026)
(150,781)

(388)
(1,566)

(13,704)
(12,621)

–
(473)

5,394
(23,358)

(26,592)
32,359

$ 5,767

(1)  Includes payments to retiring officers under the Company’s unfunded Supplemental Benefit Plan of $5.3 million in 2007 and $26.5 million in 2006.
(2)  Does not include $0.7 million and $6.5 million of equipment which was received but not yet paid for at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



NOTE A – ORGANIZATION AND
DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Arkansas Best Corporation (the “Company”)
is a holding company engaged, through its
subsidiaries, primarily in motor carrier trans-
portation operations. The principal subsidiary
of the Company is ABF Freight System, Inc.
(“ABF”).

Clipper Exxpress Company (“Clipper”), an
intermodal transportation subsidiary, was
sold in June 2006 and has been reported as
discontinued operations in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income. Cash
flows associated with the discontinued opera-
tions of Clipper have been combined with
cash flows from continuing operations in the
accompanying consolidated statements of
cash flow for 2006 and 2005.

Approximately 76% of ABF’s employees are
covered under a collective bargaining agree-
ment with the International Brotherhood of
Teamsters (“IBT”). The current five-year
agreement with the IBT expires on March 31,
2008. During February 2008, the Company
announced that the IBT has ratified a new 
five-year collective bargaining agreement. The
new agreement, which will be effective 
April 1, 2008, provides for compounded
annual contractual wage and benefit increas-
es of 3.8%, subject to wage rate cost-of-living
adjustments.  

NOTE B – ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation: The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions are
eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Short-term
investments that have a maturity of ninety
days or less when purchased are considered
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents, which
totaled $85.9 million at December 31, 2007,
consisted of money market funds and com-
mercial paper.

Short-Term Investments: Short-term invest-
ment securities are classified as available-for-
sale and are stated at fair value with related
unrealized gains and losses, if any, reported
net of applicable taxes in accumulated other
comprehensive loss. Short-term investments
consist of insured, investment-grade auction
rate debt or preferred equity securities with
interest or dividend rate reset periods of gen-
erally less than 90 days. Interest and divi-
dends related to these investments are
included in short-term investment income on
the Company’s consolidated statements of
income. It is the Company’s policy to invest in
high-quality, investment-grade securities. The
Company sold substantially all of its short-
term investments in January 2008 with no
realized gains or losses.

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Com-
pany’s services are provided primarily to cus-
tomers throughout the United States and
Canada. ABF, the Company’s largest sub-
sidiary, which represented 96.4% of the
Company’s annual revenues for 2007, had no
single customer representing more than 3.0%
of its revenues during 2007 and no single
customer representing more than 2.0% of its
accounts receivable balance at December 31,
2007. The Company performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its customers and generally
does not require collateral. The Company
maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts
based upon historical trends and factors sur-
rounding the credit risk of specific customers.
Historically, credit losses have been within
management’s expectations. 

Allowances: The Company maintains
allowances for doubtful accounts, revenue
adjustments and deferred tax assets. The
Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts
represents an estimate of potential accounts
receivable write-offs associated with recog-
nized revenue based on historical trends and
factors surrounding the credit risk of specific
customers. The Company writes off accounts
receivable when accounts are turned over to 
a collection agency or when determined to 
be uncollectible. Receivables written off 
are charged against the allowance. The
Company's allowance for revenue adjust-
ments represents an estimate of potential rev-
enue adjustments associated with recognized

revenue based upon historical trends. The
Company's valuation allowance for deferred
tax assets is established by evaluating
whether the benefits of its deferred tax assets
will be realized through the reduction of future
taxable income.

Impairment Assessment of Long-Lived
Assets: The Company reviews its long-lived
assets, including property, plant, equipment
and capitalized software that are held and
used in its operations for impairment when-
ever events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that the carrying amount of the asset
may not be recoverable. If such an event or
change in circumstances is present, the
Company will estimate the undiscounted
future cash flows, less the future cash out-
flows necessary to obtain those inflows,
expected to result from the use of the asset
and its eventual disposition. If the sum of the
undiscounted future cash flows is less than
the carrying amount of the related assets, the
Company will recognize an impairment loss.
The Company considers a long-lived asset 
as abandoned when it ceases to be used. The
Company records impairment losses in oper-
ating income. 

Assets to be disposed of are reclassified as
assets held for sale at the lower of their carry-
ing amount or fair value less cost to sell.
Assets held for sale primarily represent ABF’s
nonoperating properties, older revenue equip-
ment and other equipment. Write-downs to
fair value less cost to sell are reported in oper-
ating income. Assets held for sale are
expected to be disposed of by selling the
properties or assets within the next 12
months. Gains and losses on property and
equipment are reported in operating income.

Assets held for sale are included in other non-
current assets in the accompanying consoli-
dated balance sheets. During 2007, property
and equipment classified as held for sale and
carried at $5.6 million was sold for net gains
totaling $3.2 million. At December 31, 2007,
management was not aware of any events or
circumstances indicating the Company’s
long-lived assets would not be recoverable.
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Property, Plant and Equipment Including
Repairs and Maintenance: The Company uti-
lizes tractors and trailers primarily in its motor
carrier transportation operations. Tractors and
trailers are commonly referred to as “revenue
equipment” in the transportation business.
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
are recorded at cost. For financial reporting
purposes, such property is depreciated prin-
cipally by the straight-line method, using the
following lives: structures – primarily 15 to 20
years; revenue equipment – 3 to 12 years;
other equipment – 3 to 15 years; and lease-
hold improvements – 4 to 20 years, or over
the remaining life of the lease, whichever is
shorter. For tax reporting purposes, accelerat-
ed depreciation or cost recovery methods are
used. Gains and losses on asset sales are
reflected in the year of disposal. Exchanges of
nonmonetary assets that have commercial
substance are measured based on the fair
value of the assets exchanged. However, if a
nonmonetary exchange lacks commercial
substance, trade-in allowances in excess of
the book value of revenue equipment traded
are accounted for by adjusting the cost of
assets acquired. Tires purchased with rev-
enue equipment are capitalized as a part of
the cost of such equipment, with replacement
tires being expensed when placed in service.
Repair and maintenance costs associated
with proper ty, plant and equipment are
expensed as incurred if the costs do not
extend the useful life of the asset. If such
costs do extend the useful life of the asset, the
costs are capitalized and depreciated over the
appropriate useful life. The Company has no
planned major maintenance activities.

Asset Retirement Obligations: The Company
records estimated liabilities for the cost to
remove underground storage tanks, dispose
of tires and return leased real property to its
original condition at the end of a lease term.
The liabilities are discounted using the
Company’s credit adjusted risk-free rate.
Revisions to these liabilities for such costs
may occur due to changes in the estimates for
fuel tank removal costs, tire disposal fees and
real property lease restoration costs, or
changes in regulations or agreements affect-
ing these obligations. At December 31, 2007
and 2006, the Company’s estimated asset
retirement obligations totaled $1.8 million.

Computer Software Developed or Obtained
for Internal Use, Including Web Site
Development Costs: The Company capital-
izes qualifying computer software costs
incurred during the “application development
stage.” For financial reporting purposes, cap-
italized software costs are amortized by the
straight-line method over 2 to 5 years. The
amount of costs capitalized within any period
is dependent on the nature of software devel-
opment activities and projects in each period. 

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of
the purchase price in a business combination
over the fair value of net tangible and intangi-
ble assets acquired. Goodwill amounts are not
amortized, but rather are evaluated for impair-
ment annually, utilizing a combination of valu-
ation methods, including earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization,
net income multiples and the present value of
discounted cash flows. The Company’s good-
will, which totaled $64.0 million and $63.9
million at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, is attributable to ABF as a result
of a 1988 leveraged buyout. Changes occur in
the goodwill asset balance because of ABF’s

foreign currency translation adjustments on
the portion of the goodwill related to ABF’s
Canadian operations. The Company has per-
formed the annual impairment testing on its
ABF goodwill based upon operations and fair
value at January 1, 2008, 2007 and 2006 and
found there to be no impairment at any of
these dates.

Income Taxes: Deferred income taxes are
accounted for under the liability method,
which takes into account the differences
between the tax basis of the assets and liabil-
ities for financial reporting purposes and
amounts recognized for income tax purposes.
Deferred income taxes relate principally to
asset and liability basis differences resulting
from the timing of the depreciation and cost
recovery deductions and to temporary differ-
ences in the recognition of certain revenues
and expenses. On January 1, 2007, the
Company adopted the provisions of FASB
Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpreta-
tion of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”).
The adoption of FIN 48 did not have an effect
on the Company’s consolidated financial
position and results of operations. The
Company’s policy is that interest and penalty
amounts related to income tax matters will
continue to be classified as interest expense
and operating expenses, respectively, in the
Company’s consolidated statements of
income.
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The following table is a summary of assets held for sale for the years ended December 31:

2007 2006

($ thousands)

Assets held for sale – January 1  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Reclassifications of assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Sale of assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Assets held for sale – December 31  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 793
14,884
(5,550)

$ 10,127

$ 2,768
7,989

(9,964)

$ 793



Revenue Recognition: Revenue is recognized
based on relative transit time in each report-
ing period with expenses recognized as
incurred. The Company utilizes a bill-by-bill
analysis to establish estimates of revenue in
transit for recognition in the appropriate
reporting period. The Company reports rev-
enue and purchased transportation expense
on a gross basis for certain shipments where
ABF utilizes a third-party carrier for pickup,
linehaul or delivery of freight but remains the
primary obligor.

Earnings Per Share: The calculation of earn-
ings per share is based on the weighted-aver-
age number of common (basic earnings per
share) or common equivalent shares out-
standing (diluted earnings per share) during
the applicable period. The dilutive effect of
Common Stock equivalents is excluded from
basic earnings per share and included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share.

Share-Based Compensation: The Com-
pany’s share-based compensation plans are
described fur ther in Note C. Effective 
January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the
fair value recognition provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123(R), Share-Based Payment, (“FAS
123(R)”) using the modified-prospective tran-
sition method and, accordingly, prior periods
have not been restated. Under this transition
method, compensation expense recognized in
2006 and 2007 includes the pro rata cost of
stock options granted prior to but not yet
vested as of January 1, 2006, based upon the
grant date fair value estimated in accordance
with the original provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
(“FAS 123”). Share-based compensation
expense associated with the Company’s
stock options was not recognized in periods
prior to 2006 as all options were granted with
an exercise price no less than the market
value of the underlying Common Stock on the
date of grant. In addition, the adoption of FAS
123(R) had an insignificant effect on the
determination of assumed proceeds that are
used in calculating weighted-average shares
for diluted earnings per share.

In accordance with FAS 123(R), the balance
in unearned compensation recorded in stock-
holders’ equity as of January 1, 2006, of $5.1
million was reversed. Tax benefits in excess of
the compensation cost recognized for stock
options (“excess tax benefits”) are shown as
financing cash flows. Prior to the adoption of
FAS 123(R), excess tax benefits were shown
as cash flows from operating activities. The
Company elected to follow the alternative
transition provisions of estimating its begin-
ning pool of excess tax benefits in accordance
with FASB Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3,
Transition Election Related to Accounting for
the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment
Awards. As a result, excess tax benefits
related to share-based compensation plans
increased approximately $0.5 million in 2006.

For share-based awards granted prior to the
adoption of FAS 123(R), the Company amor-
tizes the fair value of the awards to compen-
sation expense on a straight-line basis over
the five-year vesting period and accelerates
unrecognized compensation upon a grantee’s
death, disability or retirement. Share-based
awards granted or modified subsequent to the
adoption of FAS 123(R) are amortized to
compensation expense over the five-year
vesting period or the period to which the
employee first becomes eligible for retire-
ment, whichever is shorter, with vesting
accelerated upon death or disability. Com-
pensation expense recognized subsequent to
the adoption of FAS 123(R) reflects an esti-
mate of shares assumed to be forfeited over
the service period. Estimated forfeitures,
which are based on historical experience, are
adjusted to the extent that actual forfeitures
differ, or are expected to differ, from these
estimates. Prior to the adoption of FAS
123(R), forfeitures were reflected as they
occurred in pro forma disclosures made pur-
suant to FAS 123. As historical forfeitures
have been less than 5%, the required change
to estimating forfeitures in accordance with
the new standard did not have a significant
impact on compensation expense recorded
under FAS 123(R) compared to pro forma
amounts presented under FAS 123.

The fair value of restricted stock awards is
determined based upon the closing market
price of the Company’s Common Stock on the
date of grant. The restricted stock awards
generally vest at the end of a five-year period
following the date of grant, subject to acceler-
ated vesting due to death, disability, retire-
ment or change-in-control provisions. The
Company issues new shares upon the grant-
ing of restricted stock. Dividends are paid on
restricted stock awards during the vesting
period.

The Company has not granted stock options
since January 2004. The grant date fair value
of stock options was estimated based on a
Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model
that utilizes several assumptions, including
expected volatility, weighted-average life and
a risk-free interest rate. Expected volatilities
were estimated using the historical volatility of
the Company’s stock, based upon the
expected term of the option. The Company
was not aware of information in determining
the grant date fair value that would have indi-
cated that future volatility would be expected
to be significantly different than historical
volatility. The expected term of the option was
derived from historical data and represents
the period of time that options are estimated
to be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate
for periods within the estimated life of the
option was based on the U.S. Treasury Strip
rate in effect at the time of the grant. Stock
options generally vest in equal amounts over
a five-year period and expire ten years from
the date of grant. The Company issues new
shares upon the exercise of stock options.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s share-based compensation expense which has been recognized in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements:

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands, except per share data)

Share-based compensation expense (pre-tax):
Restricted stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Stock options  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Share-based compensation expense (net of tax):
Restricted stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Stock options  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Share-based compensation expense per diluted share:
Restricted stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Stock options  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 3,857
1,054

$ 4,911

$ 2,344
864

$ 3,208

$ 0.09
0.04

$ 0.13

$ 2,869
1,839

$ 4,708

$ 1,744
1,439

$ 3,183

$ 0.07
0.05

$ 0.12

$ 842
–

$ 842

$ 514
–

$ 514

$ 0.02
–

$ 0.02

Had the Company elected to apply the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123, the Company’s net income and earnings per share for the year
ended December 31, 2005, would have approximated the pro forma amounts indicated below: 

2005

($ thousands, except per share data)

Net income – as reported  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Add back share-based compensation expense from restricted 
stock awards, included in reported net income, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Less total share-based compensation expense determined
under fair value-based methods for all awards, net of tax  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net income – pro forma  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net income per share:
Basic

As reported  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pro forma  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Diluted
As reported  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Pro forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 104,626

514

(2,476)

$ 102,664

$ 4.13

$ 4.05

$ 4.06

$ 4.01



Claims Liabilities: The Company is self-
insured up to certain limits for workers’ com-
pensation, certain third-party casualty claims
and cargo loss and damage claims. Amounts
in excess of the self-insured limits are fully
insured to levels which management consid-
ers appropriate for the Company’s operations.
The Company’s claims liabilities have not
been discounted.

The Company records a liability for self-
insured workers’ compensation and third-
party casualty claims based on the incurred
claim amount plus an estimate of future claim
development and a reserve for claims
incurred but not reported. Management esti-
mates the development of the claims by
applying the Company’s historical claim
development factors to incurred claim
amounts. The Company is entitled to recover,
from insurance carriers and insurance pool
arrangements, amounts which have been pre-
viously paid by the Company for claims above
the self-insurance retention level. These
amounts are included in other accounts
receivable in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets, net of allowances for poten-
tially unrecoverable amounts. 

The Company records an estimate of its
potential self-insured cargo loss and damage
claims by estimating the amount of potential
claims based on the Company’s historical
trends and certain event-specific information. 

Insurance-Related Assessments: The Com-
pany recorded estimated liabilities for state
guaranty fund assessments and other insur-
ance-related assessments of $0.9 million at
December 31, 2007 and 2006. Management
has estimated the amounts incurred, using
the best available information about premi-
ums and guaranty assessments by state.
These amounts are expected to be paid within
a period not to exceed one year. The liabilities
recorded have not been discounted.

Nonunion Defined Benefit Pension, Supple-
mental Pension and Postretirement Health
Plans: The Company accounts for its pen-
sion and postretirement plans in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions (“FAS 87”); Statement of
Accounting Standards No. 88, Employers’
Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments
of Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination
Benefits (“FAS 88”); Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 106, Employers’
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other
Than Pensions (“FAS 106”); and Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 132
(“FAS 132”) and Statement No. 132(R),
Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and
Other Postretirement Benefits (“FAS
132(R)”), as amended by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 158,
Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88,
106, and 132(R) (“FAS 158”). The Company
uses December 31 as a measurement date for
its nonunion defined benefit pension plan,
supplemental benefit plan and postretirement
health benefit plan.

Environmental Matters: The Company
expenses environmental expenditures related
to existing conditions resulting from past or
current operations and from which no current
or future benefit is discernible. Expenditures
which extend the life of the related property or
mitigate or prevent future environmental con-
tamination are capitalized. Amounts accrued
reflect management’s best estimate of the
future undiscounted exposure related to iden-
tified properties based on current environ-
mental regulations. The Company’s estimate
is based on management’s experience with
similar environmental matters and on testing
performed at certain sites. The estimated lia-
bility is not reduced for possible recoveries
from insurance carriers or other third parties.

Derivative Financial Instruments: The
Company has, from time to time, entered into
interest rate swap agreements and interest
rate cap agreements designated to modify the
interest characteristic of outstanding debt or

limit exposure to increasing interest rates in
accordance with its interest rate risk manage-
ment policy. The differential to be paid or
received as interest rates change is accrued
and recognized as an adjustment of interest
expense related to the debt. The related
amount payable or receivable from counter-
parties is included in other current liabilities or
current assets. The Company recognizes all
derivatives on its balance sheets at fair value.
Derivatives that are not hedges will be adjust-
ed to fair value through income. If a derivative
is a hedge, depending on the nature of the
hedge, changes in the fair value of the deriva-
tive will either be offset against the change in
fair value of the hedged asset, liability or firm
commitment through earnings, or recognized
in other comprehensive income until the
hedged item is recognized in earnings. Hedge
ineffectiveness associated with interest rate
swap agreements will be reported in interest
expense.

Comprehensive Income: The Company
reports the components of other comprehen-
sive income by their nature in the financial
statements and displays the accumulated bal-
ance of other comprehensive income or loss
separately in the consolidated statements of
stockholders’ equity. Other comprehensive
income refers to revenues, expenses, gains
and losses that are included in comprehen-
sive income but excluded from net income.  

Exit or Disposal Activities: The Company
accounts for exit costs in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities (“FAS 146”).
As prescribed by FAS 146, liabilities for costs
associated with the exit or disposal activity
are recognized when the liability is incurred.

Variable Interest Entities: The Company has
no investments in or known contractual
arrangements with variable interest entities.
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Segment Information: The Company uses
the “management approach” for determining
its reportable segment information. The man-
agement approach is based on the way man-
agement organizes the reportable segments
within the Company for making operating
decisions and assessing performance.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the

amounts reported in the financial statements
and accompanying notes. Actual amounts
may differ from those estimates included in
the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Reclassifications: Certain reclassifications
have been made to the prior year’s financial
statements to conform to the current year’s
presentation. The 2006 and 2005 statements
of income include reclassifications to report
revenue and purchased transportation
expense on a gross basis for certain ship-

ments involving third-party interline carriers
and certain brokerage transactions where ABF
utilizes a third-party carrier for pickup or 
delivery of freight but remains the primary
obligor to provide services to the customer.
The amounts reclassified were $21.0 million
for 2006 and $17.6 million for 2005. The
comparable amount for 2007 was $23.0 
million. There was no impact on ABF’s 
operating income and only a minor impact 
on ABF’s operating ratio as a result of this
reclassification.
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2007 2006 2005

Per Share Amount Per Share Amount Per Share Amount

($ thousands, except per share data)

First quarter dividend  . . . . . . . . . . .
Second quarter dividend  . . . . . . . .
Third quarter dividend  . . . . . . . . . .
Fourth quarter dividend  . . . . . . . . .

$ 0.15
$ 0.15
$ 0.15
$ 0.15

$ 3,780
$ 3,790
$ 3,790
$ 3,805

$ 0.15
$ 0.15
$ 0.15
$ 0.15

$ 3,801
$ 3,845
$ 3,827
$ 3,796

$ 0.12
$ 0.12
$ 0.15
$ 0.15

$ 3,038
$ 3,064
$ 3,813
$ 3,789

NOTE C – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock: The following table is a summary of dividends declared during the applicable quarter:

Stockholders’ Rights Plan: Under the
Company’s stockholders’ rights plan, each
issued and outstanding share of Common
Stock has associated with it one Common
Stock right to purchase a share of Common
Stock from the Company at an exercise price
of $80 per right. The rights are not currently
exercisable, but could become exercisable if
certain events occur, including the acquisition
of 15.0% or more of the outstanding Common
Stock of the Company. Under certain condi-
tions, the rights will entitle holders, other than
an acquirer in a nonpermitted transaction, to
purchase shares of Common Stock with a
market value of two times the exercise price
of the right. The rights will expire in 2011
unless extended. On May 18, 2007, the
Company amended its stockholders’ rights
plan to permit a named stockholder to benefi-
cially own up to 17.999% of the Company’s
Common Stock without causing the rights to
become exercisable.

Treasury Stock: The Company has a program
to repurchase its Common Stock in the open
market or in privately negotiated transactions.
In 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors
authorized stock repurchases of up to $25.0
million and in 2005, an additional $50.0 
million was authorized for a total of $75.0 mil-
lion. As of December 31, 2007, the Company
has purchased 1,618,150 shares for an
aggregate cost of $56.8 million, leaving $18.2
million available for repurchase under the 
current buyback program. The program has
no expiration date but may be terminated at
any time at the Board of Directors’ discretion.
Repurchases may be made using the
Company’s cash reserves or other available
sources. 

Stock Awards: As of December 31, 2007, the
Company had outstanding stock options
granted under the 1992 Stock Option Plan, the
2000 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan and the
2002 Stock Option Plan and outstanding

restricted stock and restricted stock units
granted under the 2005 Ownership Incentive
Plan (“the 2005 Plan”). The 1992 Stock
Option Plan expired on December 31, 2001.
As of December 31, 2007, the Company had
not elected to treat any exercised options as
Employer Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”)
and no employee SARs had been granted. No
stock options have been granted since 2004. 

The 2005 Plan supersedes the Company’s
2000 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan and
2002 Stock Option Plan with respect to future
awards and provides for the granting of 1.5
million shares, which may be awarded as
incentive and nonqualified stock options,
SARs, restricted stock or restricted stock
units. Any outstanding stock options under
the 1992, 2000 or 2002 stock option plans
which are forfeited or otherwise unexercised
will be included in the shares available for
grant under the 2005 Plan. 



The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors granted restricted stock and restricted stock units under the 2005 Plan during the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 as follows:

The fair value of restricted stock that vested was $0.7 million in 2007, $1.0 million in 2006 and less than $0.1 million in 2005.

Unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock awards outstanding as of December 31, 2007, totaled $11.5 million, which is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.6 years.
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Restricted Stock: A summary of the Company’s restricted stock program, which consists of restricted stock and restricted stock units, is presented below:

Shares/Units

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Nonvested – January 1, 2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Vested  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Forfeited  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Nonvested – December 31, 2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

333,531
191,520
(19,379)
(14,112)
491,560

$ 36.31
38.98
36.15
36.45

$ 37.35

Stock Options: A summary of the Company’s stock option program is presented below:

Shares 
Under Option

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Term

Intrinsic 
Value 

($000)(1)

Outstanding – January 1, 2007  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Granted  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Exercised  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Forfeited  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Outstanding – December 31, 2007  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Options outstanding at December 31, 2007 which are
vested or expected to vest  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Exercisable – December 31, 2007  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

867,350
–

(134,966)
(9,600)

722,784

716,226

577,054

$ 24.43
–

19.89
27.60

$ 25.24

$ 25.21

$ 24.60

4.4

4.4

4.0

$    702

$         702

$         702

(1)  For stock options having an exercise price less than the year-end stock price, the intrinsic value represents the fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock on
December 31, 2007, less the exercise price of the stock options, multiplied by the number of shares under option. 

Shares/Units

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

2007  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2006  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2005  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

191,520
192,500
182,250

$ 38.98
39.15
32.62



Unrecognized compensation cost related to stock option awards outstanding as of December 31, 2007, totaled $0.6 million, which is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.0 year.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss: Components of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows at December 31:
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The following table summarizes additional activity related to the Company’s stock option program for the years ended December 31:

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands)

Intrinsic value of options exercised  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Cash proceeds of options exercised  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Tax benefit of options exercised  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 2,217
2,683

862

$ 6,657
5,877
2,299

$ 6,475
5,394
1,968

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands)

Pre-tax amounts:
Foreign currency translation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Minimum pension liability (see Note J) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Unrecognized net periodic benefit costs (see Note J)  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

After-tax amounts:
Foreign currency translation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Minimum pension liability (see Note J) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Unrecognized net periodic benefit costs (see Note J)  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ (422)
– 

(42,988)
$ (43,410)

$ (257)
– 

(26,266)
$ (26,523)

$ (524)
–

(55,762)
$ (56,286)

$ (318)
–

(34,071)
$ (34,389)

$ (449)
(7,989)

–
$ (8,438)

$ (273)
(4,855)

–
$ (5,128)

NOTE D – SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS 

The Company’s short-term investments consist of insured, investment-grade auction rate debt or preferred equity securities which are classified as
available-for-sale. The interest or dividend rates on the Company’s short-term investments are generally reset every 7 to 90 days through an 
auction process. Interest and dividends are paid on these securities at the end of each reset period.

The following is a summary of the Company’s short-term investments at December 31:

2007 2006

($ thousands)

Debt securities consisting of U.S. state and local municipal securities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Preferred equity securities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 74,373
5,000

$ 79,373

$ 108,317
27,000

$ 135,317



NOTE E – DERIVATIVE 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company was a party to an interest rate
swap on a notional amount of $110.0 million,
which matured on April 1, 2005. The
Company’s interest rate strategy was to
hedge its variable 30-day LIBOR-based inter-
est rate for a fixed interest rate on $110.0 

million of Credit Agreement borrowings for the
term of the interest rate swap to protect the
Company from potential interest rate
increases. The Company designated its
benchmark variable 30-day LIBOR-based
interest rate payments on $110.0 million of
borrowings under the Company’s Credit
Agreement as a cash flow hedge. 

In March 2003, the Company forecasted
Credit Agreement borrowings to be below the
$110.0 million level and the majority of the
interest rate swap ceased to qualify as a cash
flow hedge. Changes in the fair value of the
interest rate swap after March 2003 were
accounted for in the Company’s income
statement. For 2005, payments on the swap
and changes in the fair value of the swap were
approximately equal in amount.
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December 31, 2007

($ thousands)

Debt securities due after 10 years  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Preferred equity securities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 74,373
5,000

$ 79,373

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the weighted-average tax equivalent yield on the Company’s auction rate securities was 5.8%
and 5.3%, respectively.

NOTE F – FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAXES

Significant components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands)

Current provision:
Federal  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
State  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Deferred provision (credit):
Federal  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total provision for income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 22,280
5,526

27,806

5,516
644

6,160
$ 33,966

$ 42,305
8,362

50,667

290
61

351
$ 51,018

$ 60,392
11,541
71,933

(5,132)
(1,103)
(6,235)

$ 65,698

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial report-
ing purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred income taxes include a provision of $8.5 million for depreciation and other
basis differences related to property, plant and equipment. 

The Company’s short-term investments are
reported on the balance sheets at fair value.
The Company sold $348.0 million, $372.3
million and $295.7 million in shor t-
term investments during the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respec-
tively, with no realized gains or losses. 

During the fourth quarter 2007, the Company
began transitioning out if its short-term
investments into money market funds and
commercial paper, which are classified as
cash equivalents. In January 2008, the
Company sold $78.5 million of short-term
investments with no realized gains or losses.
As of January 31, 2008, the Company’s
short-term investments totaled less than 
$1.0 million.

The carrying values of the Company’s short-
term investments at December 31, 2007, by
contractual maturity of the underlying secu-
rity, are shown below. Actual maturities may
differ from the contractual maturities because
the issuers of the securities may have the
right to prepay obligations without prepay-
ment penalties.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets at December 31 are as follows:

2007 2006

($ thousands)

Deferred tax liabilities:
Amortization, depreciation and basis differences

for property, plant and equipment and other long-lived assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Revenue recognition  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Prepaid expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total deferred tax liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Pension liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Postretirement liabilities other than pensions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Share-based compensation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
State net operating loss carryovers  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Valuation allowance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net deferred tax assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net deferred tax liabilities (assets)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 61,292
6,934
3,661

71,887

53,335
14,053
7,636
2,111

838
651

78,624
(958)

77,666
$ (5,779)

$ 52,798
5,962
3,792

62,552

54,527
16,119

7,206
1,099

841
760

80,552
(920)

79,632
$ (17,080)

A reconciliation between the effective income tax rate, as computed on income from continuing operations before income taxes, and the statutory
federal income tax rate for the years ended December 31 is presented in the following table:

2007 2006 2005
($ thousands)

Income tax at the statutory federal rate of 35% . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Federal income tax effects of: 

State income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other nondeductible expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Dividends received deduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Tax-exempt investment income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Alternative fuel credit  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Federal income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
State income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total provision for income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Effective tax rate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 31,777

(2,160)
2,091
(317)

(1,451)
(960)

(1,184)
27,796
6,170

$ 33,966
37.4%

$ 46,032

(2,948)
1,922
(326)

(1,324)
–

(761)
42,595

8,423
$ 51,018

38.8%

$ 58,958

(3,653)
1,385
(222)
(556)

–
(652)

55,260
10,438

$ 65,698
39.0%

Income taxes paid totaled $39.6 million in
2007, $58.0 million in 2006 and $70.2 million
in 2005 before income tax refunds of $10.6
million in 2007, $10.6 million in 2006 and
$8.3 million in 2005.

The tax benefit for exercised options in 2007
is $0.9 million of which $0.8 million is
reflected in paid-in capital. The paid-in capital
benefit could increase as additional informa-
tion becomes available to the Company

regarding stock sales by employees. The tax
benefits associated with stock options exer-
cised totaled $2.3 million in 2006 and $2.0
million in 2005, which are reflected in paid-in
capital.

The Company had state net operating loss
carryovers of approximately $12.1 million at
December 31, 2007. The majority of state net
operating loss carryovers expire in five years
or less. As of December 31, 2007, the

Company had a valuation allowance of
approximately $0.8 million for state net oper-
ating loss carryovers and $0.1 million for for-
eign net operating loss carryovers for which
realization is uncertain. In 2007, the valuation
allowance was decreased $0.1 million due to
the expectation of realization of state contribu-
tion carryovers and increased $0.1 million for
foreign loss carryovers.



During 2007, the IRS completed an examina-
tion of the Company’s federal income tax
return for 2004, and no changes were made
to the Company’s return. The Company is
under examination by certain state taxing
authorities. Although the outcome of tax
audits is always uncertain and could result in
payment of additional taxes, the Company
does not believe the results of any of these
audits will have a material effect on its 
financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company
adopted Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes –
an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109
(“FIN 48”), which establishes the accounting
and disclosure requirements for uncertain 
tax positions. FIN 48 requires a two-step

approach to evaluate tax positions and deter-
mine if they should be recognized. This
approach involves recognizing any tax posi-
tions that are “more likely than not” to occur
and then measuring those positions to deter-
mine the amounts to be recognized in the
financial statements. Federal income tax
returns filed for years through 2003 are
closed by the applicable statute of limitations. 

In considering the provisions of FIN 48, as
applied to the Company’s tax positions, the
Company has determined that no reserves for
uncer tain tax positions are required at
December 31, 2007 or during the year then
ended. The Company is not aware of any mat-
ters that would cause a significant change in
this determination during the next year.
Interest expense related to amended state
income tax returns yet to be filed was less
than $0.2 million for the year ended

December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2007
and December 31, 2006, the accrued interest
liability, which related to state income taxes to
be paid on amended returns, totaled $1.0 mil-
lion and $1.1 million, respectively. No interest
was paid related to federal income taxes dur-
ing 2007 or 2006, and less than $0.1 million
of interest was paid related to federal income
taxes during 2005. 

NOTE G – OPERATING LEASES 
AND COMMITMENTS

While the Company maintains ownership of
most of its larger terminals and distribution
centers, certain facilities and equipment are
leased. Rental expense totaled $14.7 million
in 2007, $14.3 million in 2006, and $13.6
million in 2005.
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Period

Total Terminals
Equipment 
and Other

($ thousands)

2008  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2009  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2010  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2011  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2012  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 12,270
9,797
7,190
5,412
3,163
3,792

$ 41,624

$ 11,097
8,624
7,127
5,378
3,163
3,792

$ 39,181

$ 1,173
1,173

63
34
–
–

$ 2,443

The future minimum rental commitments, net of minimum rentals to be received under noncancelable subleases, as of December 31, 2007, for all
noncancelable operating leases are as follows:

Certain of the leases are renewable for sub-
stantially the same rentals for varying periods.
In addition to the above, the Company has
guaranteed rent payments through March
2012 totaling $1.0 million for office space that

continues to be leased by Clipper. Future min-
imum rentals to be received under noncance-
lable subleases totaled approximately $0.1
million at December 31, 2007.

Commitments to purchase revenue equip-
ment and property, which are cancelable 
by the Company if certain conditions are 
met, were approximately $0.9 million at 
December 31, 2007.



(1) The Company has a revolving credit
agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) dated
May 4, 2007, with a syndicate of 10 finan-
cial institutions. The Credit Agreement,
which has a maturity date of May 4, 2012,
provides for up to $325.0 million of revolv-
ing credit loans (including a $150.0 million
sublimit for letters of credit) and allows the
Company to request extensions of the
maturity date for a period not to exceed
two years, subject to approval of a major-
ity of the participating financial institu-
tions. The Credit Agreement also allows
the Company to request an increase in the
amount of revolving credit loans of up to
$200.0 million to an aggregate amount of
$525.0 million, to the extent commitments
are received from participating lenders.

Interest rates under the Credit Agreement
are at variable rates. The Credit Agreement

contains a pricing grid, based on the
Company’s senior debt ratings, that deter-
mines its Eurodollar margin, facility fees,
utilization fees and letter of credit fees. The
Credit Agreement requires the payment of
a utilization fee if the borrowings under 
the Credit Agreement exceed 50% of the 
facility amount. 

The Company has a senior unsecured
debt rating of BBB+ with a stable outlook
by Standard & Poor’s Rating Service and
a senior unsecured debt rating of Baa2
with a stable outlook by Moody’s
Investors Service, Inc. The Company has
no downward rating triggers that would
accelerate the maturity of amounts drawn
under the Credit Agreement. The Credit
Agreement contains various customary
covenants, which limit, among other
things, indebtedness and dispositions of

assets and which require the Company to
maintain compliance with certain quar-
terly financial ratios. As of December 31,
2007, the Company was in compliance
with the covenants.

As of December 31, 2007, there were no
outstanding revolver advances and
approximately $53.6 million of outstand-
ing letters of credit issued under the facil-
ity, resulting in borrowing capacity of
$271.4 million. As of December 31, 2006,
there were no outstanding revolver
advances and approximately $51.3 million
of outstanding letters of credit. 

(2) The Company has capitalized lease obliga-
tions related to real estate and certain
computer equipment. These obligations
have a weighted-average interest rate of
5.65% at December 31, 2007.
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NOTE H – LONG-TERM DEBT AND 
CREDIT AGREEMENT

December 31

2007 2006

($ thousands)

Revolving credit agreement(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Capitalized lease obligations(2)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other (bears interest at 6.3%)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Less current portion  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ –
1,571

–
1,571

171
$ 1,400

$ –
239

1,194
1,433

249
$ 1,184

($ thousands)

2008  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2009  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2010  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2011  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2012  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Thereafter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total minimum lease payments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Less amounts representing interest  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Present value of net minimum leases included in long-term debt  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 257
257
172
177
182

1,014
2,059

488
$ 1,571

The future minimum payments under capitalized leases at December 31, 2007, consisted of the following:



NOTE J – EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Nonunion Defined Benefit Pension,
Supplemental Pension and Postretirement
Health Plans

The Company has a funded noncontributory
defined benefit pension plan covering sub-
stantially all noncontractual employees hired
before January 1, 2006 (see Defined
Contribution Plans within this note). Benefits
are generally based on years of service and
employee compensation. The Company’s
contributions to the defined benefit pension
plan are based upon the minimum funding
levels required under provisions of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, with the maximum contributions not to

exceed deductible limits under the Internal
Revenue Code.

The Company also has unfunded supplemen-
tal pension benefit plans (“SBP”) for the pur-
pose of supplementing benefits under the
Company’s defined benefit plan. Under the
SBP, the Company will pay sums in addition to
amounts payable under the defined benefit
plan to eligible participants. Participation in
the SBP is limited to employees of the
Company and ABF who are participants in the
Company’s defined benefit plan and who are
designated as participants in the SBP by the
Company’s Board of Directors. The SBP pro-
vides that prior to a participant’s termination,
the participant may elect either a lump-sum
payment or a deferral of receipt of the benefit.

While the SBP is an unfunded plan, equivalent
amounts of participant deferrals of SBP bene-
fits have been funded into the Company’s SBP
Trust. The SBP Trust assets are considered
general assets of the Company, until ultimate
distribution to the participant. These funded
amounts which totaled $0.6 million and $1.4
million at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, are recorded in other long-term
assets in the accompanying consolidated bal-
ance sheets. The SBP includes a provision
that deferred benefits accrued under the SBP
will be paid in the form of a lump sum follow-
ing a change-in-control of the Company. The
Compensation Committee of the Company’s
Board of Directors elected to close the SBP to
new entrants and to place a cap on the maxi-
mum payment per participant to existing 
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Assets held under capitalized leases at December 31 are included in property, plant and equipment as follows:

2007 2006

($ thousands)

Real estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Service, office and other equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Less accumulated amortization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 1,499
1,364
2,863
1,329

$ 1,534

$ –
1,364
1,364
1,120

$ 244

Amortization of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation expense.

The Company paid interest of $0.6 million in 2007, $0.3 million in 2006, and $0.5 million in 2005, net of capitalized interest which totaled $0.2 
million in each of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

NOTE I – ACCRUED EXPENSES

December 31

2007 2006

($ thousands)

Accrued salaries, wages and incentive plans  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Accrued vacation pay  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Taxes other than income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Loss, injury, damage and workers’ compensation claims reserves  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Current portion of supplemental pension plan benefits(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 19,228
39,419
7,077

87,690
5,600
7,617

$ 166,631

$ 29,076
39,413

7,038
83,503

4,466
7,936

$ 171,432

(1)  Does not include expected distributions of participant deferred supplemental pension plan benefits.



participants in the SBP effective January 1,
2006. In place of the SBP, officers appointed
after 2005 participate in a long-term cash
incentive plan (see Long-Term Incentive Plan
within this note).

The Company also sponsors an insured
postretirement health benefit plan that pro-
vides supplemental medical benefits, life and
accident insurance and vision care to certain
officers of the Company and certain sub-
sidiaries. The plan is generally noncontribu-
tory, with the Company paying the premiums.
The prescription drug benefits provided under
the Company’s postretirement health benefit
plan are actuarially equivalent to Medicare
Part D and thus qualify for the subsidy under
the Prescription Drug Act. The Company
made eligible gross payments for prescription
drug benefits throughout 2006 and received
the Medicare Part D subsidy on those pay-
ments in 2007.

The Company adopted FAS 158 on December
31, 2006, and as a result, recognized the
funded status (the difference between the fair
value of plan assets and the projected benefit
obligations) of its nonunion pension plan, SBP
and postretirement health benefit plan in the
accompanying balance sheet, with a corre-
sponding adjustment to accumulated other
comprehensive income, net of tax. The
adjustment to accumulated other comprehen-
sive income recorded at adoption of FAS 158
represented net unrecognized actuarial losses
of $53.4 million ($32.6 million, net of taxes),
unrecognized prior service costs of $1.3 
million ($0.8 million, net of taxes) and unrec-
ognized transition obligation remaining from
the initial adoption of FAS 87 of $0.6 million
($0.4 million, net of taxes), all of which were
previously netted against the plan’s funded
status in the Company’s balance sheet in
accordance with the provisions of FAS 87.
These amounts are being recognized as net

periodic benefit cost in the consolidated state-
ments of income pursuant to the Company’s
historical accounting policy for amortizing
such amounts. Further, actuarial gains and
losses that arise but which are not included in
net periodic benefit cost in the same periods
will be recognized as a component of other
comprehensive income. Those amounts will
be subsequently recognized as a component
of net periodic benefit cost on the same basis 
as the amounts recognized in accumulated
other comprehensive income at adoption of
FAS 158.

The adoption of FAS 158 had no effect on the
Company’s consolidated statement of income
for the year ended December 31, 2006, or for
any prior period presented. 
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The following table discloses the changes in benefit obligations and plan assets of the Company’s nonunion benefit plans for years ended 
December 31: 

Pension Benefits
Supplemental 

Pension Plan Benefits
Postretirement 
Health Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

($ thousands)

Change in benefit obligations
Benefit obligations at beginning of year  . . . . . . . .
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Interest cost  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Actuarial loss (gain) and other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Benefits and expenses paid  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Benefit obligations at end of year  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  . . . .
Actual return on plan assets and other  . . . . . . . . .
Employer contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Benefits and expenses paid  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  . . . . . . . .
Funded status  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Accumulated benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 196,848
9,995

11,030
(7,736)

(13,884)
196,253

182,034
11,567
5,000

(13,884)
184,717

$ (11,536)

$ 174,751

$ 192,934
9,846

10,425
(441)

(15,916)
196,848

171,633
21,317

5,000
(15,916)
182,034

$ (14,814)

$ 170,477

$ 26,506
796

1,256
878

(5,255)
24,181

–
–

5,255
(5,255)

–
$ (24,181)

$ 18,693

$ 46,646
893

1,536
3,912

(26,481)
26,506

–
–

26,481
(26,481)

–
$ (26,506)

$ 17,878

$ 18,437
185

1,140
549

(844)
19,467

–
–

844
(844)

–
$ (19,467)

$ 19,467

$ 17,353
166

1,012
770

(864)
18,437

–
–

864
(864)

–
$ (18,437)

$ 18,437



The Company is required to record pension
settlement expense when cash payouts
exceed annual service and interest costs of
the related plan. For the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company
settled obligations of $5.3 million and $26.5
million and recorded pension settlement

expense of $1.7 million and $10.2 million 
on a pre-tax basis, or $0.04 and $0.24 per 
diluted share, net of taxes, respectively.

Based on announced retirements, the Com-
pany anticipates settling obligations during
2008 of $6.2 million and recording additional

pension settlement expense of approximately
$1.7 million on a pre-tax basis, or $0.04 per
diluted share, net of taxes. The final settle-
ment amounts will be calculated based on the
terms of the plan, using the discount rates in
effect at the settlement dates.
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Amounts recognized in the balance sheets at December 31 consist of the following:

The following is a summary of the components of net periodic benefit cost for the Company’s nonunion benefit plans for the years ended 
December 31:

Pension Benefits
Supplemental 

Pension Plan Benefits
Postretirement Health

Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

($ thousands)

Current liabilities (included in accrued expenses) . . .
Noncurrent liabilities (included in pension and 

postretirement liabilities)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Liabilities recognized  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ –

(11,536)
$ (11,536)

$ –

(14,814)
$ (14,814)

$ (5,600)

(18,581)
$ (24,181)

$ (4,466)

(22,040)
$ (26,506)

$ (725)

(18,742)
$ (19,467)

$ (675)

(17,762)
$ (18,437)

Pension Benefits
Supplemental 

Pension Plan Benefits Postretirement Health Benefits

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

($ thousands)

Components of net 
periodic benefit cost

Service cost  . . . . . . . .
Interest cost  . . . . . . . .
Expected return 

on plan assets . . . . .
Transition (asset) 

obligation 
recognition  . . . . . . .

Amortization of 
prior service 
(credit) cost  . . . . . .

Pension settlement
expense . . . . . . . . . .

Recognized net 
actuarial loss 
and other(1)  . . . . . . .

Net periodic 
benefit cost . . . . . . .

$ 9,995
11,030

(14,044)

–

(897)

–

4,153

$ 10,237

$ 9,846
10,425

(13,244)

–

(919)

–

5,453

$ 11,561

$ 9,315
9,684

(13,018)

(8)

(922)

–

4,968

$ 10,019

$ 796
1,256

–

(116)

1,560

1,665

1,408

$ 6,569

$ 893
1,536

–

(123)

1,560

10,192

1,165

$ 15,223

$ 768
1,953

–

(227)

1,560

–

1,414

$ 5,468

$ 185
1,140

–

135

–

–

1,034

$ 2,494

$ 166
1,012

–

135

8

–

1,261

$ 2,582

$ 167
804

–

135

30

–

856

$ 1,992

(1)  The Company amortizes actuarial losses over the average remaining active service period of the plan participants and does not use a corridor approach.
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Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31 are the following pre-tax amounts that have not yet been recognized in net 
periodic benefit cost:

The following amounts, which are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, are expected to be recognized as components of net 
periodic benefit cost in 2008 on a pre-tax basis:

The minimum liability, which was related to the supplemental pension plan and was included in other comprehensive loss, decreased $7.5 million
(pre-tax) in 2006 and increased $1.3 million (pre-tax) in 2005.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine nonunion benefit obligations at December 31 were as follows:

The Company’s discount rate for determining its nonunion benefit obligations was estimated by matching projected cash distributions from each
plan with the appropriate corporate bond yields in a yield curve analysis.

Pension Benefits
Supplemental 

Pension Plan Benefits
Postretirement Health

Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

($ thousands)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Unrecognized prior service (credit) cost  . . . . . . . .
Unrecognized net transition (asset) obligation . . . .

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 27,392
(1,800)

–
$ 25,592

$ 36,804
(2,697)

–
$ 34,107 

$ 7,136
2,955

(70)
$ 10,021

$ 9,366
4,515
(221)

$ 13,660

$ 6,709
–

666
$ 7,375

$ 7,194
–

801
$ 7,995

Pension Benefits

Supplemental
Pension Plan

Benefits
Postretirement
Health Benefits

($ thousands)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Unrecognized prior service (credit) cost  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Unrecognized net transition (asset) obligation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 2,863
(897)

–
$ 1,966

$ 856
1,560

(62)
$ 2,354

$ 933
–

135
$ 1,068

Pension Benefits
Supplemental 

Pension Plan Benefits
Postretirement Health

Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Discount rate(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Rate of compensation increase  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

6.1%
3.3%

5.8%
4.0%

5.8%
4.0%

5.5%
4.0%

6.5%
N/A

5.8%
N/A

(1)  The discount rate was determined at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.



The Company establishes the expected long-
term rate of return on nonunion pension plan
assets by considering the historical returns
for the current mix of investments. In addition,
consideration is given to the range of
expected returns for the pension plan invest-
ment mix provided by the plan’s investment

advisors. The Company uses the historical
information to determine if there has been a
significant change in the nonunion pension
plan’s investment return history. If it is deter-
mined that there has been a significant
change, the rate is adjusted up or down, as
appropriate, by a portion of the change. This

approach is intended to establish a long-term,
nonvolatile rate. The Company’s long-term
expected rate of return utilized in determining
its 2008 nonunion pension plan expense is
expected to be 7.6%. 

ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION 2007 ANNUAL REPORT    49

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the Company’s nonunion benefit plans for the years ended 
December 31 were as follows:

The assumed health care cost trend rates for the Company’s postretirement health benefit plan at December 31 are as follows:

The health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for health care plans. A one percentage point change in 
assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects on the Company’s postretirement health benefit plan for the year ended 
December 31, 2007:

The weighted-average asset allocation of the Company’s nonunion defined benefit pension plan at December 31 is summarized in the following table:

Pension Benefits
Supplemental 

Pension Plan Benefits Postretirement Health Benefits
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Discount rate(2)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Expected return on plan assets  . . . .
Rate of compensation increase  . . . .

5.8%
7.9%
4.0%

5.5%
7.9%
4.0%

5.5%
8.3%
4.0%

5.5%
N/A

4.0%

5.5%
N/A

4.0%

5.5%
N/A

4.0%

5.8%
N/A
N/A

5.5%
N/A
N/A

5.5%
N/A
N/A

(2)  The discount rate was determined at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, for the years 2007, 2006 and 2005.

2007 2006

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to 

decline (the ultimate trend rate)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

10.5%

5.0%
2016

9.5%

5.0%
2015

One Percentage Point

Increase Decrease

($ thousands)

Effect on total of service and interest cost components  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 239
2,980

$ (193)
(2,458)

2007 2006

Equity Securities
Large Cap U.S. Equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Small Cap U.S. Equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
International Equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Fixed Income Securities
U.S. Fixed Income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Cash Equivalents  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

36.1%
14.8
11.1

38.0
0.0

100.0%

36.9%
15.5
11.0

36.5
0.1

100.0%



The investment strategy for the Company’s
nonunion defined benefit pension plan is to
maximize the long-term return on plan assets
subject to an acceptable level of investment
risk, liquidity risk and long-term funding risk.

The plan’s long-term asset allocation policy is
designed to provide a reasonable probability
of achieving a nominal return of 7.0% to 9.0%
per year, protecting or improving the purchas-
ing power of plan assets and limiting the pos-

sibility of experiencing a substantial loss over
a one-year period. Target asset allocations are
used for investments.
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At December 31, 2007, the target allocations and acceptable ranges were as follows:

Estimated future benefit payments from the Company’s nonunion defined benefit pension, supplemental pension and postretirement health plans,
which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are as follows:

Target Allocation Acceptable Range

Equity Securities
Large Cap U.S. Equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Small Cap U.S. Equity  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
International Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Fixed Income Securities
U.S. Fixed Income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

35.0%
15.0%
10.0%

40.0%

30.0% – 40.0%
11.0% – 19.0%

8.0% – 12.0%

35.0% – 45.0%

Investment balances and results are reviewed
quarterly. Investment allocations which fall
outside the acceptable range at the end of any
quarter are rebalanced based on the target
allocation of all segments.

Index funds are primarily used for investments
in equity and fixed income securities.
Investment performance is generally com-

pared to the three-to-five year performance of
recognized market indices. Certain types of
investments and transactions are prohibited
or restricted by the Company’s written invest-
ment policy, including short sales; purchase
or sale of futures; options or derivatives for
speculation or leverage; private placements;
purchase or sale of commodities; or illiquid
interests in real estate or mortgages.

The Company does not expect to have
required minimum contributions, but could
make tax-deductible contributions to its pen-
sion plan in 2008. Based upon current infor-
mation, the Company anticipates making
2008 contributions of up to $8.0 million,
which will not exceed the estimated maximum
tax-deductible contribution.

Pension Benefits

Supplemental
Pension Plan

Benefits
Postretirement
Health Benefits

2008  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2009  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2010  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2011  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2012  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2013 – 2017  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 13,884
17,857
17,607
16,912
17,037
74,609

$ 5,600
–
–
–

3,941
19,162

$ 725
740
771
872
952

5,851

Deferred Compensation Plans

The Company has deferred salary agreements
with certain executives for which liabilities 
of $6.6 million and $6.3 million as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,
have been recorded as other liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
The deferred salary agreements include a pro-
vision that immediately vests all benefits and,
at the executive’s election, provides for a

lump-sum payment upon a change-in-control
of the Company. The Compensation
Committee of the Company’s Board of
Directors elected to close the deferred salary
agreement program to new entrants effective
January 1, 2006. In place of the deferred
salary agreement program, officers appointed
after 2005 par ticipate in the Long-Term
Incentive Plan (see Long-Term Incentive Plan
within this note). 

An additional benefit plan provides certain
death and retirement benefits for certain offi-
cers and directors of an acquired company
and its former subsidiaries. The Company has
liabilities of $1.5 million and $1.6 million at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,
for future costs under this plan, which are
reflected as other liabilities in the accompany-
ing consolidated financial statements. 



The Company maintains a Voluntary Savings
Plan, a nonqualified deferred compensation
program for the benefit of certain executives
of the Company and certain subsidiaries.
Eligible employees may defer receipt of a por-
tion of their regular compensation, incentive
compensation and other bonuses into the
Voluntary Savings Plan by making an election
before the compensation is payable. The
Company credits participants’ accounts with
applicable matching contributions and rates of
return based on a portfolio selected by the
participants from the investments available in
the plan. All deferrals, Company match and
investment earnings are considered part of
the general assets of the Company until paid.
Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets reflect the aggregate partici-
pant balances as both an asset and a liability
of the Company. As of December 31, 2007
and 2006, $14.8 million and $15.2 million,
respectively, are included in other assets with
a corresponding amount recorded in other 
liabilities. 

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries have vari-
ous defined contribution 401(k) plans that
cover substantially all of its employees. The
plans permit participants to defer a portion of
their salary up to a maximum of 50% as pro-
vided in Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code. The Company matches a por-
tion of nonunion participant contributions up
to a specified compensation limit ranging
from 0% to 6%. The plans also allow for dis-
cretionary Company contributions determined
annually. The Company’s matching expense
for the 401(k) plans totaled $4.4 million for
2007 and 2006, and $4.5 million for 2005.

In place of the Company’s nonunion defined
benefit pension plan, all nonunion employees
hired subsequent to December 31, 2005, par-
ticipate in a defined contribution plan into
which the Company may make discretionary
contributions. Participants will be fully vested
in the contributions made to their account
after three years of service. All employees
who were participants in the defined benefit
pension plan on December 31, 2005, will
continue in that plan. The Company recog-
nized expense of $0.8 million and $0.3 million

in 2007 and 2006, respectively, related to the
Company’s contributions to this plan.

Long-Term Incentive Plan 

Pursuant to stockholder approval of the 2005
Ownership Incentive Plan, the Compensation
Committee of the Company’s Board of
Directors created a performance-based, cash
payment Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
“LTIP”) effective January 2006. Participants
in the LTIP are officers of the Company or its
subsidiaries who are not participants in the
Company’s SBP or in the deferred salary
agreement program. The LTIP incentive,
which is generally earned over three years, is
based 60% on return on capital employed and
40% on the Company achieving specified lev-
els of profitability or earnings per share
growth, as defined in the LTIP. Minimum levels
of return on capital employed and growth
must be achieved for any incentive to be
earned. The Company has accrued $0.4 mil-
lion and $0.2 million at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively, for estimated future
distributions under the LTIP, which is reflected
as other liabilities in the accompanying con-
solidated balance sheets. In 2006, three offi-
cers elected to switch from participation in
the SBP and deferred salary agreement pro-
grams to the Company’s LTIP under terms
approved by the Company’s Compensation
Committee. As a result, the participants who
elected to switch benefit programs will no
longer earn additional benefits under the SBP
and deferred salary agreement programs
effective January 31, 2008.  

Other Plans

Other long-term assets include $39.7 million
and $38.5 million at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively, in cash surrender value of
life insurance policies. These policies are
intended to provide funding for long-term
nonunion benefit arrangements such as the
Company’s SBP and certain deferred com-
pensation plans.

Multiemployer Plans

Under the provisions of the Taft-Hartley Act,
retirement and health care benefits for ABF’s

contractual employees are provided by a
number of multiemployer plans. The trust
funds for these plans are administered by
trustees, an equal number of whom generally
are appointed by the IBT and certain manage-
ment carrier organizations or other appointing
authorities for employer trustees as set forth
in the fund’s trust agreements. ABF is not
directly involved in the administration of the
trust funds. ABF contributes to these plans
monthly based on the time worked by its con-
tractual employees, as specified in the collec-
tive bargaining agreement and other
supporting supplemental agreements. No
amounts are required to be paid beyond ABF’s
monthly contractual obligations based on the
time worked by its employees, except as dis-
cussed below. Approximately 50% of ABF’s
contributions are made to the Central States
Southeast and Southwest Area Pension Fund
(“Central States Pension Fund”). ABF recog-
nizes as expense the contractually required
contribution for the period and recognizes as
a liability any contributions due and unpaid.
The Company intends to meet its obligations
to the multiemployer pension plans under its
collective bargaining agreement with the IBT.

In the event of the termination of a multiem-
ployer pension plan or if ABF were to with-
draw from a multiemployer pension plan, ABF
would have liabilities for its share of the
unfunded vested liabilities of each such plan.
ABF has no current intention of withdrawing
from these plans. Based on December 31,
2006, multiemployer pension plan informa-
tion which is the most recently available infor-
mation to the Company, the current estimate
of ABF’s contingent withdrawal liabilities for
these plans is approximately $800 million to
$850 million, on a pre-tax basis. Though the
best information available to ABF was used in
computing this estimate, it is calculated with
numerous assumptions, changes periodically
and has not been verified by ABF or its inde-
pendent pension counsel. 

In 2006, the Pension Protection Act (the
“Act”) became law and together with related
regulations established cer tain minimum
funding requirements for multiemployer pen-
sion plans. The PPA mandates that multiem-
ployer plans that are below certain funding
levels or that have projected funding deficien-
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cies adopt a funding improvement plan or a
rehabilitation program to improve the funding
levels over a defined period of time. The Act
also accelerates the timing of annual funding
notices and requires additional disclosures
from certain multiemployer plans. Under the
PPA, the funding status of such plans is deter-
mined by a number of factors including:
investment returns, changes in member ben-
efits, the number of participating employees,
the number of employers who contribute and
their related contractual contributions and the
number of employees or retirees participating
in the plan who no longer have a contributing
employer. Any one or combination of these
items, which are outside the control of the
Company, has the potential to affect the fund-
ing status of these plans. If any multiemployer
pension plan fails to: (i) meet minimum fund-
ing requirements; (ii) meet a required funding
improvement or rehabilitation plan required by

the PPA for underfunded plans; (iii) obtain
from the IRS certain changes to or waivers of
the requirements used by a particular plan to
calculate funding levels; or, (iv) reduce pen-
sion benefits to a level where the require-
ments are met, the PPA could impose
additional contribution requirements on ABF in
the form of a surcharge of an additional five to
ten percent. However, under ABF’s new five-
year collective bargaining agreement with the
IBT, which will be effective April 1, 2008, any
surcharges required by the Act will be
included in the contractual contribution rate
and should not increase ABF’s overall contri-
bution obligation.

In July 2007, the Teamsters National Freight
Industry Negotiating Committee for the
Central States Pension Fund Supplemental
Agreement reallocated $0.40 per hour of a
previously negotiated $0.70 per hour rate

increase for health and welfare to the Central
States Pension Fund. This reallocation will
have a positive effect on the funded status of
the Central States Pension Fund. In addition,
as a result of a withdrawal by a large con-
tributing employer, the Central States Pension
Fund received a significant cash contribution
in December 2007, which should have a pos-
itive effect on its near-term funded status.

Despite these events, based on currently
available information, the Company believes
that the Central States Pension Fund and a
number of other plans in which ABF partici-
pates will have to adopt either a funding
improvement plan or a rehabilitation program
depending on their current funding status as
required by the PPA. However, the funding lev-
els of these multiemployer plans in 2008
could vary from the December 31, 2006
funded status.
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ABF’s aggregate contributions to the multiemployer health, welfare and pension plans for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands)

Health and welfare . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Pension  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total contributions to multiemployer plans  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 108,132
109,959

$ 218,091

$ 105,197
104,076

$ 209,273

$ 100,608
91,981

$ 192,589

NOTE K – OPERATING 
SEGMENT DATA

The Company uses the “management
approach” to determine its reportable operat-
ing segments, as well as to determine the
basis of reporting the operating segment
information. The management approach
focuses on financial information that the
Company’s management uses to make deci-
sions about operating matters. Management
uses operating revenues, operating expense
categories, operating ratios, operating income
and key operating statistics to evaluate per-
formance and allocate resources to the
Company’s operations.

ABF, which provides transportation of general
commodities, represents the Company’s only
reportable operating segment. The operations

of Clipper, which are reported as discontinued
operations in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income, were previously
reported as a separate segment prior to its
sale in June 2006.

ABF is headquartered in Fort Smith, Arkansas,
and provides direct service to over 97% of the
cities in the United States having a population
of 25,000 or more. The operations of ABF
include, in the aggregate, national, inter-
regional and regional transportation of general
commodities through standard, expedited and
guaranteed LTL services. 

The Company’s other business activities and
operating segments that are not reportable
include FleetNet America, Inc., a third-party
vehicle maintenance company; Arkansas Best
Corporation, the parent holding company; and 

Transport Realty, Inc., a real estate subsidiary
of the Company, and other subsidiaries.

The Company eliminates intercompany trans-
actions in consolidation. However, the infor-
mation used by the Company’s management
with respect to its reportable segments is
before intersegment eliminations of revenues
and expenses. Intersegment revenues and
expenses are not significant.

Further classifications of operations or rev-
enues by geographic location beyond the
descriptions provided above are impractical
and therefore not provided. The Company’s
foreign operations are not significant.
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The following table reflects reportable operating segment information for the Company for the years ended December 31, as well as a reconciliation
of reportable segment information to the Company’s consolidated operating revenues, operating expenses, operating income and consolidated
income from continuing operations before income taxes:

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES
ABF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other revenues and eliminations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total operating revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OPERATING EXPENSES AND COSTS 
ABF 

Salaries, wages and benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Supplies and expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating taxes and licenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Insurance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Communications and utilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Rents and purchased transportation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Pension settlement expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gain on sale of property and equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Other (reduced by a gain of $15.4 million on the sale of 
properties to G.I. Trucking Company in 2005) and eliminations . . . . .
Total operating expenses and costs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
ABF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other (includes a gain of $15.4 million on the sale of 

properties to G.I. Trucking Company in 2005) and eliminations . . . . .

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Short-term investment income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Interest expense and other related financing costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
BEFORE INCOME TAXES  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 1,770,749
66,129

$ 1,836,878

$ 1,070,708
293,056
47,682
22,230
15,334
74,231

160,062
1,665

(4,347)
5,607

1,686,228

65,806
$ 1,752,034

$ 84,521

323
84,844

5,671
(1,189)
1,465
5,947

$ 90,791

$ 1,831,351
50,149

$ 1,881,500

$ 1,067,174
293,203

48,116
28,584
15,269
63,519

179,587
10,192
(3,416)
4,007

1,706,235

50,586
$ 1,756,821

$ 125,116

(437)
124,679

4,996
(1,119)
2,963
6,840

$ 131,519

$ 1,726,520
43,056

$ 1,769,576

$ 1,006,188
254,774
44,534
27,724
14,156
55,106

166,038
–

(2,012)
4,356

1,570,864

32,188
$ 1,603,052

$ 155,656

10,868
166,524

2,382
(2,157)
1,702
1,927

$ 168,451



NOTE L – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were
used by the Company in estimating its fair
value disclosures for all financial instruments,
except for the interest rate swap agreement
disclosed below and capitalized leases.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash
equivalents are reported in the balance sheets
at fair value.

Short-Term Investments: Short-term invest-
ments are reported in the balance sheets at
fair value.

Long- and Short-Term Debt: At December
31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had no bor-
rowings under its revolving Credit Agreement.
The fair value of the Company’s other long-
term debt was estimated using current market
rates. 
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The following table provides asset, capital expenditure and depreciation and amortization information by reportable operating segment for the
Company, as well as reconciliations of reportable segment information to the Company’s consolidated assets, capital expenditures and depreciation
and amortization:

The carrying amounts and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31 are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands)

ASSETS
ABF  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other and eliminations(2)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total consolidated assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (GROSS)
ABF  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other equipment and information technology purchases . . . . . . . . . . .

Total consolidated capital expenditures (gross)(3)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSE
ABF  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization expense . . . . . . .

$ 720,496
–

262,853
$ 983,349

$ 96,702
–

1,467
$ 98,169

$ 74,231
–

3,087
$ 77,318

$ 687,403
–

251,313
$     938,716

$ 141,955
2,544
2,964

$     147,463

$ 63,519
753

3,455
$       67,727

$ 633,536
23,901

263,623
$ 921,060

$ 91,321
137

1,980
$ 93,438

$ 55,106
1,809
4,936

$ 61,851

(1)  Represents amounts related to Clipper which was sold on June 15, 2006 (see Note R).
(2)  Includes cash and short-term investments.
(3)  Includes assets acquired through capital leases totaling $1.5 million in 2007 and $0.3 million in 2005.

2007 2006

Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value

($ thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . . . . . . . .
Short-term investments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Current portion of long-term debt*  . . . . . .
Long-term debt*  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 93,805
$ 79,373
$ –
$ –

$ 93,805
$ 79,373
$ –
$ –

$ 5,009
$ 135,317
$ 170
$ 1,024

$ 5,009
$ 135,317
$ 175
$ 1,039

*  Amounts disclosed in the consolidated balance sheets include capital lease obligations.

Interest Rate Instruments

The Company has historically been subject to
market risk on all or a part of its borrowings

under bank credit lines, which have variable
interest rates. The Company’s interest rate
swap matured on April 1, 2005. During 2007
and 2006, the Company incurred no borrow-

ings and had no outstanding debt obligations
other than letters of credit under the Credit
Agreement. 
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For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company had no outstanding stock options that were antidilutive.

2007 2006 2005

($ thousands, except share and per share data)

Numerator:
Numerator for earnings per share – 

Income from continuing operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations, net of tax  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share – 

Weighted-average shares  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Effect of dilutive securities:

Restricted stock awards and stock options  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Denominator for diluted earnings per share – 
Adjusted weighted-average shares and assumed conversions  . . . .

NET INCOME PER SHARE 
Basic

Income from continuing operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Diluted 
Income from continuing operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 56,825
–

$ 56,825

24,822,673

294,924

25,117,597

$ 2.29
–

$ 2.29

$ 2.26
–

$ 2.26

$ 80,501
3,593

$ 84,094

25,134,308

369,491

25,503,799

$ 3.21
0.14

$ 3.35

$ 3.16
0.14

$ 3.30

$ 102,753
1,873

$ 104,626

25,328,975

412,565

25,741,540

$ 4.06
0.07

$ 4.13

$ 3.99
0.07

$ 4.06

NOTE M – EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31:
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NOTE N – QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

The tables below present unaudited quarterly financial information for 2007 and 2006:

2007

First Quarter* Second Quarter* Third Quarter* Fourth Quarter

($ thousands, except share and per share data)

Operating revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating expenses and costs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other income – net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net income per share – basic  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Average shares outstanding – basic  . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net income per share – diluted  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Average shares outstanding – diluted . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 427,813
421,035

6,778
1,088
3,067

$ 4,799

$ 0.19

24,828,355

$ 0.19

25,163,851

$ 463,703
433,388
30,315
1,839

12,532
$ 19,622

$ 0.79

24,769,569

$ 0.78

25,114,597

$ 486,039
457,853
28,186
1,788

11,058
$ 18,916

$ 0.76

24,820,079

$ 0.75

25,137,398

$ 459,323
439,758
19,565
1,232
7,308

$ 13,489

$ 0.54

24,870,847

$ 0.54

25,055,495

* Periods prior to fourth quarter 2007 include reclassifications to report revenue and purchased transportation expense on a gross basis for certain shipments involving
third-party interline carriers and certain brokerage transactions where ABF utilizes a third-party carrier for pickup or delivery of freight but remains the primary obligor to
provide services to the customer.

2006

First Quarter* Second Quarter* Third Quarter* Fourth Quarter*

($ thousands, except share and per share data)

Operating revenues  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating expenses and costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Operating income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other income – net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from continuing operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations (includes a gain of $3.1 
million from disposal during the second quarter)  . . . .
Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Basic earnings per share:
Continuing operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Average shares outstanding – basic  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Diluted earnings per share:
Continuing operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Average shares outstanding – diluted  . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 429,346
421,495

7,851
1,718
3,743
5,826

296
$ 6,122

$ 0.23
0.01

$ 0.24

25,240,479

$ 0.23
0.01

$ 0.24

25,635,491

$ 484,737
438,282

46,455
906

18,399
28,962

3,297
$ 32,259

$ 1.15
0.13

$ 1.28

25,224,486

$ 1.13
0.13

$ 1.26

25,599,728

$ 513,165
463,377

49,788
1,872

20,114
31,546

–
$ 31,546

$ 1.26
–

$ 1.26

25,128,232

$ 1.24
–

$ 1.24

25,523,367

$ 454,251
433,666

20,585
2,344
8,762

14,167

–
$ 14,167

$ 0.57
–

$ 0.57

24,938,196

$ 0.56
–

$ 0.56

25,297,848

* Include reclassifications to report revenue and purchased transportation expense on a gross basis for certain shipments involving third-party interline carriers and cer-
tain brokerage transactions where ABF utilizes a third-party carrier for pickup or delivery of freight but remains the primary obligor to provide services to the customer.



NOTE O – LEGAL PROCEEDINGS,
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS AND
OTHER EVENTS

The Company is involved in various legal
actions arising in the ordinary course of busi-
ness. The Company maintains liability insur-
ance against certain risks arising out of the
normal course of its business, subject to cer-
tain self-insured retention limits. The
Company routinely establishes and reviews
the adequacy of reserves for estimated legal
and environmental exposures. While manage-
ment believes that amounts accrued in the
accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments are adequate, estimates of these liabil-
ities may change as circumstances develop.
Considering amounts recorded, these legal
actions are not expected to have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition, cash flows or results of operations. 

On July 30, 2007, Farm Water Technological
Services, Inc., d/b/a Water Tech, and C.B.J.T.,
d/b/a Agricultural Supply, on behalf of them-
selves and other plaintiffs, filed a putative
class action lawsuit against the Company and
eleven other companies engaged in the LTL
trucking business in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of California.
This lawsuit alleges that the carriers violated
U.S. antitrust laws regarding fuel surcharges
and seeks unspecified treble damages
allegedly sustained by class members, along
with injunctive relief, attorney’s fees and costs
of litigation.  After the original suit was filed,
other plaintiffs filed similar cases in various
courts across the country. Several of the 
parties, including the Company, initiated pro-
ceedings with the United States Judicial Panel
on Multidistrict Litigation (“JPML”) seeking to

have the cases consolidated and transferred
to a single District Court for pretrial proceed-
ings. On December 20, 2007, the United
States JPML entered an order centralizing and
transferring the pending lawsuits for pretrial
proceedings to the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Georgia.
This class action litigation is in a preliminary
stage and the Company cannot predict its out-
come, as the litigation process is inherently
uncertain. If an adverse outcome were to
occur, it could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s consolidated financial con-
dition, cash flows and results of operations.
However, the Company believes that the alle-
gations in this litigation are without merit and
intends to contest such allegations and
defend itself vigorously.

The Company’s subsidiaries store fuel for use
in tractors and trucks in 71 underground tanks
located in 23 states. Maintenance of such
tanks is regulated at the federal and, in some
cases, state levels. The Company believes
that it is in substantial compliance with these
regulations. The Company’s underground
storage tanks are required to have leak detec-
tion systems. The Company is not aware of
any leaks from such tanks that could reason-
ably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on the Company. 

The Company has received notices from the
Environmental Protection Agency and others
that it has been identified as a potentially
responsible party under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response Compensation and
Liability Act, or other federal or state environ-
mental statutes, at several hazardous waste
sites. After investigating the Company’s or its
subsidiaries’ involvement in waste disposal or
waste generation at such sites, the Company

has either agreed to de minimis settlements
(aggregating approximately $103,000 over
the last ten years, primarily at seven sites) or
believes its obligations, other than those
specifically accrued for with respect to such
sites, would involve immaterial monetary lia-
bility, although there can be no assurances in
this regard. 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the
Company’s reserve for estimated environ-
mental clean-up costs of properties currently
or previously operated by the Company
totaled $1.1 million and $1.2 million, respec-
tively, which is included in accrued expenses
in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. Amounts accrued reflect manage-
ment’s best estimate of the future undis-
counted exposure related to identified
properties based on current environmental
regulations. The Company’s estimate is based
on management’s experience with similar
environmental matters and on testing per-
formed at certain sites. 
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Included in operating expenses and costs, operating income, income from continuing operations and earnings per share in the above 2006 
quarterly information are the following pension settlement expense amounts:

Year Ended December 31, 2006

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

($ thousands, except share and per share data)

Pre-tax amounts  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
After-tax amounts  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Diluted earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 8,439
5,128

0.20

$ 644
392

0.02

$ 1,021
621

0.02

$ 88
53
–



NOTE P – EXCESS INSURANCE 
CARRIERS

Reliance Insurance Company (“Reliance”)
was the Company’s excess insurer for work-
ers’ compensation claims above the self-
insured retention level of $0.3 million for the
1993 through 1999 policy years. According to
an Official Statement by the Pennsylvania
Insurance Department on October 3, 2001,
Reliance was determined to be insolvent. The
Company has been in contact with and has
received either written or verbal confirmation
from a number of state guaranty funds that
they will accept excess claims. For claims not
accepted by state guaranty funds, the

Company has continually maintained liabilities
since 2001 for its estimated exposure to the
Reliance liquidation. The Company anticipates
receiving either full reimbursement from state
guaranty funds or par tial reimbursement
through orderly liquidation; however, this
process could take several years.

Kemper Insurance Companies (“Kemper”)
insured the Company’s workers’ compensa-
tion excess claims above $0.3 million for the
2000 through 2001 policy years. In March
2003, Kemper announced that it was discon-
tinuing its business of providing insurance
coverage. Lumbermen’s Mutual Casualty
Company, the Kemper company which
insures the Company’s excess claims,

received audit opinions with a going-concern
explanatory paragraph on its 2006, 2005 and
2004 statutory financial statements. The
Company has not received any communica-
tions from Kemper regarding any changes in
the handling of the Company’s existing
excess insurance coverage with Kemper.
Although Kemper continues to pay amounts
owed, the Company is uncertain as to the
future impact that Kemper’s financial condi-
tion will have on excess insurance coverage
during the 2000 and 2001 policy years. Based
upon Kemper’s available financial informa-
tion, the Company has recorded an allowance
for uncollectible receivables and additional lia-
bilities for excess claims.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Company has recorded the following receivables and related allowances at December 31 for workers’ compensation excess claims paid by the
Company but insured by Reliance and Kemper:

The Company has the following liabilities recorded at December 31 for workers’ compensation excess claims insured by but not expected to be 
covered by Reliance and Kemper:

2007 2006

($ thousands)

Reliance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Kemper  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Less allowances  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total receivables, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 1,074
132

1,206
(774)

$ 432

$ 1,808
41

1,849
(1,272)

$ 577

2007 2006

($ thousands)

Reliance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Kemper  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 1,062
215

$ 1,277

$ 1,008
155

$ 1,163



NOTE Q – SALE OF PROPERTIES 
TO G.I. TRUCKING COMPANY

During the third quarter of 2005, the Company
sold three terminals to G.I. Trucking
Company, resulting in a pre-tax gain of $15.4
million, which is reflected as a reduction of
operating expenses and costs in the accom-
panying consolidated statements of income
for 2005. On an after-tax basis, the transac-
tion resulted in a gain of $9.8 million, or $0.38
per diluted share. 

NOTE R – SALE OF CLIPPER 
AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On June 15, 2006, the Company completed
the sale of Clipper for $21.5 million in cash.
After recording costs associated with the
transaction, the Company recognized a pre-
tax gain of $4.9 million or $3.1 million after-
tax ($0.12 per diluted share). Pursuant to the
sale agreement, the Company has agreed to
indemnify the purchaser upon the occurrence
of certain events and has provided lease guar-
antees through March 2012 totaling $1.0 

million. The accompanying consolidated
statements of income for 2006 and 2005
reflect Clipper as a discontinued operation.
Cash flows associated with the discontinued
operations of Clipper have been combined
within operating, investing and financing cash
flows, as appropriate, in the accompanying
consolidated statements of cash flow for
2006 and 2005. 
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Summarized financial information for Clipper is as follows for the years ended December 31:

2006 2005

($ thousands, except per share data)

Revenue from discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Income from discontinued operations (net of taxes of $0.3 million in
2006 and $1.2 million in 2005)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Gain from disposal of discontinued operations (net of taxes of 
$1.8 million in 2006)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Discontinued operations per diluted share:
Income from discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gain from disposal of discontinued operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 48,252

$ 530

$ 3,063

$ 0.02
0.12

$ 0.14

$ 108,504

$ 1,873

$ –

$ 0.07
–

$ 0.07

NOTE S – RECENT ACCOUNTING 
PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159,
The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities. This statement permits
companies to choose to measure selected
financial assets and liabilities at fair value.
Adoption of this statement, which is effective
for the Company beginning January 1, 2008,
is not expected to have a material effect 
on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This
statement clarifies the definition of fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair
value and expands the disclosures on fair
value measurements. Adoption of this state-
ment, which is effective for the Company
beginning January 1, 2008, is not expected to
have a material effect on the Company’s con-
solidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force
(“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF Issue
No. 06-4 Accounting for Deferred Compen-

sation and Postretirement Benefit Aspects of
Endorsement Split-Dollar Life Insurance
Arrangements (“EITF 06-4”), which requires
the Company to recognize a postretirement
liability for the discounted future benefit 
obligation that the Company will have to pay
upon the death of the underlying insured
employee. EITF 06-4 is effective for the
Company beginning January 1, 2008.
Although the Company maintains endorse-
ment split-dollar life insurance policies, 
adoption of EITF 06-4 is not expected to have
a material effect on the Company’s consoli-
dated financial statements.



ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION
MANAGEMENT’S ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the Company;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with author-
izations of management and the Board of Directors of the Company; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evalu-
ation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted its evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. This evaluation included review of the
documentation of controls, evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion on
this evaluation. Although there are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, based on our
evaluation, we have concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007.

The Company’s registered public accounting firm Ernst & Young LLP, who has also audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements, has
issued a report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. This report appears on the following page.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Arkansas Best Corporation

We have audited Arkansas Best Corporation‘s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria).
Arkansas Best Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Assessment of Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was main-
tained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reason-
able detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the com-
pany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the com-
pany’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, projections of any eval-
uation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Arkansas Best Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 2007 consolidated
financial statements of Arkansas Best Corporation and our report dated February 18, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Tulsa, Oklahoma
February 18, 2008
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ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION
Arkansas Best Corporation, headquartered in
Fort Smith, Arkansas, is a transportation hold-
ing company. ABF Freight System, Inc.,
Arkansas Best’s largest subsidiary, has been in
continuous service since 1923. ABF provides
transportation of less-than-truckload (“LTL”)
general commodities throughout North
America. FleetNet America, Inc. is a third-party
vehicle maintenance company offering road
rescue service for matching commercial fleet
repair needs with appropriate repair vendors.

COMPANY EMPLOYEES
The Company has over 11,800 active 
employees.

ANNUAL MEETING OF
STOCKHOLDERS
The annual meeting of stockholders will be held
at 8:00 a.m. (CT) on Tuesday, April 22, 2008 at
the corporate offices of Arkansas Best
Corporation, 3801 Old Greenwood Road, Fort
Smith, Arkansas. A form of proxy will be 
mailed on or about March 12, 2008 to each 
stockholder of record on February 22, 2008.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information on corporate governance matters
can be found at the Company’s 
website, arkbest.com, under the “Corporate 
Governance” tab.

CODE OF CONDUCT
The Code of Conduct for Arkansas Best
Corporation can be found at the Company’s
website, arkbest.com, under the “Corporate
Governance” tab. Any amendment or waiver of
a provision of the Code of Conduct will be dis-
closed at this website location within four busi-
ness days following the date of the amendment
or waiver.

TRANSFER AGENT AND
REGISTRAR
LaSalle Bank N.A. is the stock transfer agent
and registrar for the Company's stock. LaSalle
Bank will respond to questions on lost stock
certificates, change of ownership and change
of address. Direct inquiries to:

LaSalle Bank National Association
Corporate Trust Shareholder Services
P.O. Box 3319
South Hackensack, NJ  07606-1919

or by overnight mail:
480 Washington Blvd.
Jersey City, NJ  07310-1900

877-219-7015

Internet: lasalleshareholderservices.com

FORM 10-K AVAILABILITY
The 2007 Form 10-K, filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, is available to any
stockholder by making a written request to:

David Humphrey
Director of Investor Relations 
Arkansas Best Corporation 
P.O. Box 10048
Fort Smith, AR 72917-0048

Form 10-K, as well as other financial informa-
tion, can be obtained online at Arkansas
Best’s website located at arkbest.com or
through the SEC website located at sec.gov.
E-mail requests for financial information
should be directed to invrel@arkbest.com. All
requested financial information will be 
provided without charge.

INVESTOR INQUIRIES
Securities analysts, portfolio managers and
others needing information on the Company
should contact David Humphrey, Director of
Investor Relations, at the corporate head-
quarters or call 479-785-6000.

COMMUNICATIONS DIRECTORY
Corporate Headquarters:

Arkansas Best Corporation
3801 Old Greenwood Road
Fort Smith, AR 72903

Mailing Address:
P.O. Box 10048
Fort Smith, AR 72917-0048 

Telephone: 479-785-6000
Facsimile: 479-785-6004
Internet: arkbest.com
E-mail: info@arkbest.com

Stock Listing
The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC/Nasdaq National
Market 

Nasdaq Symbol:  ABFS

Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Ernst & Young LLP
1700 One Williams Center
Tulsa, OK 74172

STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION 2007 ANNUAL REPORT    62



Board of Directors
(Board Committees noted)

Robert A. Young III
Chairman

Robert A. Davidson
President & Chief Executive Officer

Frank Edelstein 1, 3

Independent Consultant

William M. Legg 2, 3

Managing Director, 
Spring Hill Ventures

John H. Morris 2, 3

Advisor to StoneCreek Capital

Alan J. Zakon, Ph.D. 1

Private Investor

Fred A. Allardyce 1

Chairman & CEO, 
Advanced Breath Diagnostics

John W. Alden 2

Retired

1 Audit Committee
2 Compensation Committee
3 Nominating/Corporate Governance

Committee

Executive Officers

Arkansas Best Corporation
Robert A. Davidson
President & Chief Executive Officer

Judy R. McReynolds
Senior Vice President –
Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer

Christopher D. Baltz
Senior Vice President –
Yield Management & Strategic
Development

J. Lavon Morton
Vice President –
Tax & Chief Internal Auditor

Michael R. Johns
Vice President –
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

David R. Cobb
Vice President & Controller

Christopher L. Burton
Vice President – Economic Analysis

James A. Ingram
Vice President – Market Development

ABF Freight System, Inc.
Robert A. Davidson
President & Chief Executive Officer

Wesley B. Kemp
Senior Vice President – Operations

Roy M. Slagle
Senior Vice President –
Sales & Marketing

FleetNet America, Inc.
C. Oren Summer
President

Data-Tronics Corp.
David A. Cogswell
President

ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION 2007 ANNUAL REPORT    63

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS



Financial Highlights,  1

Forward-Looking Statements,  1

Letter From the President,  2

Financial Information,  4

Company Highlights,  5

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity,
Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities,  7

Stock Performance Graph,  8

Selected Financial Data,  9

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,  10

Critical Accounting Policies,  10

Recent Accounting Pronouncements,  12

Liquidity and Capital Resources,  12

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements,  15

Results of Operations,  15
Executive Overview,  15
2007 Compared to 2006,  17
2006 Compared to 2005,  20

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-
Term Investments,  23

Other Long-Term Assets,  23

Deferred Income Taxes Payable,  23

Income Taxes,  23

Seasonality,  24

Effects of Inflation,  24

Environmental Matters,  24

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About 
Market Risk,  25

Interest Rate Risk,  25

Other Market Risks,  25

Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm,  27

Consolidated Financial Statements,  28
Balance Sheets,  28, 29
Statements of Income,  30
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity,  31
Statements of Cash Flows,  32

Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements,  33

Organization and Description of the
Business,  33

Accounting Policies,  33
Stockholders’ Equity,  38
Short-Term Investments,  40
Derivative Financial Instruments,  41
Federal and State Income Taxes,  41
Operating Leases and Commitments,  43
Long-Term Debt and Credit Agreement,  44
Accrued Expenses,  45
Employee Benefit Plans,  45
Operating Segment Data,  52
Financial Instruments,  54
Earnings Per Share,  55
Quarterly Results of Operations

(Unaudited),  56
Legal Proceedings, Environmental Matters 

and Other Events,  57
Excess Insurance Carriers,  58
Sale of Properties to G.I. Trucking

Company,  59
Sale of Clipper and Discontinued

Operations,  59
Recent Accounting Pronouncements,  59

Controls and Procedures,  60

Stockholder Information,  62

Board of Directors and Executive 
Officers,  63

REFERENCE

ARKANSAS BEST CORPORATION 2007 ANNUAL REPORT    64



3801 OLD GREENWOOD ROAD

FORT SMITH, ARKANSAS 72903

A R K B E S T . C O M




